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Principal activities

Holding companies

Results

RM'000

Profit before taxation 105,139   

Tax expense (25,873)    

Profit for the financial year 79,266     

Dividends

Reserves and provisions

Bad and doubtful debts and financing

The Bank is principally engaged in the provision of banking and related financial services. There have been

no significant changes in these principal activities during the financial year.

The Directors regard Mizuho Bank, Ltd. and Mizuho Financial Group, Inc. as its immediate holding

company and ultimate holding company respectively. Both companies are incorporated in Japan.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no dividend was paid and the Directors do not recommend any

dividend to be paid for the current financial year.

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year, other than as

disclosed in the financial statements.

Before the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position of the Bank were made

out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the

writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for doubtful debts, and satisfied themselves that all

known bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the amount

written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the

Bank inadequate to any substantial extent.

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited financial statements of Mizuho Bank

(Malaysia) Berhad (the "Bank") for the financial year ended 31 March 2022.
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Current assets

Valuation methods

Contingent and other liabilities

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(a)

(b)

Change of circumstances

Items of an unusual nature

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values

attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Bank misleading.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would

render adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Bank misleading or

inappropriate.

any charge on the assets of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures

the liabilities of any other person; or

any contingent liability of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this

report or financial statements of the Bank which would render any amount stated in the financial statements

misleading.

In the opinion of the Directors, no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become

enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect

the ability of the Bank to meet its obligations when they fall due.

The results of the operations of the Bank during the financial year were not, in the opinion of the Directors,

substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item,

transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, to affect substantially the results of the Bank's

operations for the current financial year in which this report is made.

Before the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position of the Bank were made

out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their

value as shown in the accounting records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an

amount which they might be expected so to realise. 
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Business plan and strategy

Business results for the financial year ended 31 March 2022

Business outlook for the financial year ending 31 March 2023

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The Bank recorded a profit before tax ("PBT") of RM105.1 million for the financial year ended 31 March

2022, which representing a decrease of RM5.3 million or 4.8% as compared to RM110.4 million in the

previous financial year. The decrease was mainly attribute to lower net interest income which has declined

11.9% year-on-year to RM93.7 million. This was offset by higher non-interest income of RM79.0 million

and higher writeback of allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") of RM11.7 million in the same year.

The Bank continued its cost discipline exercise where its operating expenses were decreased by RM0.6

million or 0.7% year-on-year to RM79.2 million.

Total assets for the Bank stood at RM12.6 billion as at 31 March 2022, an increase of RM1.0 billion or 8.9%

as compared to the previous financial year mainly due to higher deposits and placements with financial

institutions. The Bank’s Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio and Total Capital Ratio remained strong at

31.53% and 32.68% respectively.

Malaysian economy is expected to continue its recovery path underpinned by the strengthening in the

domestic growth, easing of restrictions and reopening of international borders. However, the downside risks

remain as there is still on-going geopolitical conflicts, supply chain disruptions and adverse development

surrounding Covid-19. Looking forward, the Bank will remain cautious and continue to improve its business

while keeping its cost optimisation effort. The Bank, as part of Mizuho Financial Group, will remain

committed to fulfil its role as a financial institution and fully exercising its financial function to support its

customers.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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Statement of Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

Composition and Membership of the Board of Directors

(i) 

(ii) Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid 

(iii) Mr. Lim Kim Seng 

(iv) Mr. Guan Yeow Kwang

(v) Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin (tenure expired and retired on 7 March 2022) 

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Bank acknowledges the importance of cultivating and sustaining

good corporate governance practices that are robust in order to assist the Bank in promoting a culture of

integrity and transparency. 

With the diversity and wide range of expertise, the Board is committed to cultivate a culture of excellence in

corporate governance standards at all times. Being responsible for the stewardship of the Bank, the Board

aims to maintain the highest standards of transparency, integrity and honesty by adopting good corporate

governance practices. A structured corporate governance framework was introduced through the

establishment of the Board Charter, the Board Oversight Committees and its respective Terms of Reference

(“TOR”). The efforts were further supplemented through the formulation of policies and standard practices

that have into consideration the relevant legal and regulatory requirements governing the Bank. 

The Board is currently governed by four (4) members consisting of three (3) Independent Non-Executive

Directors and one (1) Executive Director. The size and composition of the Board duly commensurate with the

complexity, scope and operation of the Bank. During the financial year, the Board consists of the following

members:

During the financial year, the corporate governance practices of the Bank were consistent and had complied

with the guidelines and best practices under the Bank Negara Malaysia's Corporate Governance policy

document (“BNM Corporate Governance”). The Board and its Board Oversight Committees had regularly

reviewed the governance policies and practices to ensure that the Bank remains abreast of the relevant

corporate governance and regulatory requirements.

The roles of the Chairman and the Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of the Bank are

clearly separated and this distinction allows an appropriate balance of responsibilities, authority and

accountability between the Board and Management. The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Bank

are independent of Management and free from associations or circumstances that may impair the exercise of

their independent judgement. In addition, they had further declared and maintained the criteria of

independence throughout their directorship tenure. 

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari (appointed as Director on 7 February 2022 and re-designated as 

Chairman on 8 March 2022)
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Qualification, Fit and Proper Criteria

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The business and affairs of the Bank are managed under the direction and oversight of the Board subject to

the Financial Services Act 2013 and other written law governing the Bank. The Board has the overall

responsibility in promoting the sustainable growth and financial soundness of the Bank and in ensuring

reasonable standards of fair dealing, without undue influence from any party. This includes making decisions

with due consideration towards the long-term implications on the Bank and its customers, officers and the

general public.

In general the Board is responsible for the Bank's long-term objectives, overall strategies, business,

organisation and significant policies. It oversees the management of the business affairs of the Bank and

regularly monitors the Bank's performance against the budget and plans. The Reserved Matters requiring the

Board’s decision were established and these include major investments, strategic plans, business plans, key

financial and operating policies, financial results and corporate governance matters.

The Board in carrying out its various functions and responsibilities as laid down under the guidelines and

directives issued by BNM, operates within the parameters of its TOR. The Board discharges some of its

responsibilities directly and delegates certain responsibilities to the Board Oversight Committees through

their respective TOR. These TOR are reviewed periodically against the industry best practices and corporate

governance provision and guidance.

As a licensed financial institution in Malaysia, all Directors of the Bank are bound by the strict laws

governing the qualification, fit and proper criteria that must be complied before and throughout the

directorship tenure. For this purpose, an annual assessment is conducted every year to ensure that the

Directors duly complied with the requirements particularly on probity, personal integrity, reputation,

competency, capability and financial integrity. Overall, the Directors were assessed and had declared their full

compliance to the qualification, fit and proper criteria requirements.

The Board Oversight Committees were established to assist the Board in discharging its oversight functions.

With the support of the Board Audit Committee, the Board Risk Management Committee, the Board

Nomination Committee and the Board Remuneration Committee, the Board provides effective oversight of

the Bank’s performance, risk assessment of its business and operations, internal control and compliance with

regulatory requirements. 

The details of the Board Charter and the TOR for the Board and the Board Oversight Committees can be

found on the Bank’s website https://www.mizuhobank.com/malaysia/index.html.
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board (continued)

1. Board

2. Board Audit Committee

3. Board Risk Management Committee  

4. Board Nomination Committee

5. Board Remuneration Committee

11 meetings

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

8 meetings

6 meetings

10 meetings

2 meetings

Number of meetings convened by the Board and the Board Oversight Committees 

for Financial Year Ended 2022

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

During the financial year, the Board and the Board Oversight Committees had conducted their respective

meetings as follows:
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Key information and background of Directors

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari

Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director 

60 years of age

Malaysian

Board Board Board Risk Board Board 

Audit Management Nomination Remuneration

Committee Committee Committee Committee

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 *

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Dato’ Dr. Zaha Rina was appointed as Director of Mizuho Bank (Malaysia) Berhad on 7 February 2022.

Upon the cessation of Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin's directorship/chairmanship, Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina

was subsequently appointed as the new Chairman of the Bank on 8 March 2022. She holds a Bachelor of Arts

(Honours) in Accounting and Finance from Leeds Metropolitan University, United Kingdom (“UK”) and

Master in Business Administration from University of Hull, UK. She also holds a Doctorate in Business

Administration from University of Hull, UK, focusing on capital markets research and specialising in

derivatives. She has more than 32 years of experience in the financial, commodities and securities industry

and the development of the Malaysian Capital Market. Dato’ Dr. Zaha Rina is currently a Director/Consultant

at Sage 3 Sdn. Bhd. She is also the Chairperson of Manulife Holdings Bhd, Pacific & Orient Insurance Co

Bhd as well as Manulife Investment Management (M) Bhd. Dato’ Dr. Zaha Rina sits on the Boards of

Hibiscus Petroleum Bhd, IGB Bhd, Pacific & Orient Bhd and Keck Seng (M) Bhd. Besides holding

directorships in several private companies. Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina has no interest in the shares of the Bank.

As required under BNM Corporate Governance, Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina duly complied with the time

commitment and had properly discharged her directorship duties. She had attended and participated in the

Board and the Board Oversight Committees meetings held throughout the financial year, details as stated

below:

Board Member Attendance/Number of Meetings

* There was no meeting held subsequent to the Director's appointment
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Key information and background of Directors (continued)

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid

Independent Non-Executive Director

66 years of age

Malaysian

Board Board Board Risk Board Board 

Audit Management Nomination Remuneration

Committee Committee Committee Committee

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

6/6 10/10 2/2

Since joining the Bank, Mr. Abdul Khalil had duly complied with the time commitment and had properly

discharged his directorship duties as required under BNM Corporate Governance. He had attended and

participated in the Board and the Board Oversight Committees meetings held throughout the financial year,

details as stated below:

11/11

Board Member Attendance/Number of Meetings

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid was appointed as Director of the Bank on 11 November 2019. He holds a

Bachelor of Economics (B. Admin) degree from University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur Malaysia. He began his

career with Hong Kong & Shanghai Banking Corporation in 1979, managing the customer service department

at Kuala Lumpur Main Office before leaving the bank in October 1985 to join Bank of Nova Scotia as an

Account Manager. During his tenure with Bank of Nova Scotia from 1985 until 1995, Mr. Abdul Khalil was

responsible for managing multiple portfolios ranging from corporate, commercial and public sector business

segments. Mr. Abdul Khalil had joined Affin Bank Berhad in September 1995 where he had last served as its

Head of Credit Management Department. In April 2002, he had joined Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ (M)

Berhad as its Executive Vice President-Operations and was subsequently appointed as the Operations Advisor

in 2012 prior to his retirement in October 2013. Mr. Abdul Khalil currently holds other directorship as a Non-

Independent Non-Executive Chairman of Prudential Assurance Malaysia Berhad and an Independent Director

of Kuwait Finance House (Malaysia) Berhad. Mr. Abdul Khalil has no interest in the shares of the Bank.

8/8
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Key information and background of Directors (continued)

Mr. Lim Kim Seng

Independent Non-Executive Director

67 years of age

Malaysian

Board Board Board Risk Board Board 

Audit Management Nomination Remuneration

Committee Committee Committee Committee

Board Member

6/6

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

10/10 2/2

During the financial year, Mr. Lim had duly complied with the required time commitment and had properly

discharged his duties as Director of the Bank under BNM Corporate Governance. He had attended and

participated in the Board and the Board Oversight Committees meetings held throughout the financial year,

details as stated below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Mr. Lim Kim Seng

Mr. Lim Kim Seng, a Chartered Accountant, was appointed to the Board of the Bank on 14 February 2020.

He holds a Higher National Diploma in Accounting from the Scottish Business Education Council in 1976

and was later admitted as a Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland in 1980. He

received his early training as an external auditor with international accounting firm, Messrs Touche Ross &

Co. in Scotland for 7 years before returning to Malaysia in 1983. He started his career in the local banking

industry with Bank of Commerce Berhad in 1985 where he held various positions in both, the front line and

back office operations. He had served Bumiputera Merchant Bankers Berhad as its Head of Internal Audit

Department from 1992 to 2000 before leaving Malaysia to become the Financial Controller of a start-up

company in the United Kingdom (UK) for 5 years. Upon returning to Malaysia, he had joined Courts

Mammoth (M) Berhad as their Group Chief Internal Auditor for 4 years. He had later rejoined the banking

industry in 2009 upon his appointment as the Group Chief Internal Auditor of Hong Leong Bank Berhad. He

had retired from his final post with the bank in 2014. Mr. Lim does not hold other directorship or other

external engagement in any other company or entity apart from his directorship with the Bank and he does not

have any interest in the shares of the Bank.

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

11/11 8/8
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Key information and background of Directors (continued)

Mr. Guan Yeow Kwang

Executive Director 

65 years of age

Singaporean

Mr. Guan Yeow Kwang was appointed as Director of the Bank on 26 June 2018. He holds a Bachelor of Arts

(Economics and Political Science) from National University of Singapore and a Master of Business

Administration from University of Manchester. Mr. Guan commenced his career in the financial sector in

Singapore since 1981 where he mainly attached to Mizuho Bank Ltd and its predecessor entities in Singapore.

He had started his career with Astley & Pearce Pte Ltd in 1981 and subsequently with First National Bank of

Boston where he had spent fifteen years in the financial markets honing his skills as an arbitrager and later,

progressed into the areas of risk management, human resource, operations legal, compliance, technology and

finance. Mr. Guan is currently the CEO of Mizuho Singapore Branch and Managing Director of Mizuho’s

Asia and Oceania Administration Department. He serves as the Chairman of Audit Committee and is a

Council Member of the Singapore Institute of Banking & Finance, the Chairman of Manpower Sub-

committee and a Member of the Singapore FX Market Committee. Mr. Guan has no interest in the

shareholding of the Bank.

Board Member

10/1011/11

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Despite residing in Singapore, Mr. Guan had duly complied with the required time commitment and had

properly discharged his directorship duties as required under BNM Corporate Governance. He had attended

and participated in the Board and the Board Nomination Committee meetings held throughout the financial

year, details as stated below:

Board Nomination

Committee

Board

Attendance/Number of Meetings

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Mr. Guan Yeow Kwang
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Key information and background of Directors

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin

Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director (tenure expired and retired on 7 March 2022)

59 years of age 

Malaysian

Board Board Board Risk Board Board 

Audit Management Nomination Remuneration

Committee Committee Committee Committee

5/5 9/9 2/2Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin

Board Member Attendance/Number of Meetings

As required under BNM Corporate Governance, Datuk Ahmad Hizzad duly complied with the time

commitment and had properly discharged his directorship duties. He had attended and participated in the

Board and the Board Oversight Committees meetings held throughout the financial year, details as stated

below:

10/10 7/7

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin was appointed as Director of the Bank on 8 March 2019. He was the

Chairman of the Bank since 1 March 2020 until his directorship expired on 7 March 2022. Datuk Ahmad

Hizzad holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Studies from Eastern Illinois University and a Master of

Business Administration from St. Louis University. Prior to joining the Bank, Datuk Ahmad Hizzad was the

Assistant Governor of BNM until his retirement on 18 September 2018. During his tenure with BNM, Datuk

Ahmad Hizzad had served as the Director of several BNM departments namely, the Payment System,

Financial Sector Development and Islamic Banking and Takaful. Datuk Ahmad Hizzad was seconded to

Labuan Financial Services Authority ("Labuan FSA") as its Director-General for 6 years before returning to

BNM in October 2017. Apart from being the Director of the Bank, Datuk Ahmad Hizzad also serves as an

Independent Non-Executive Director of Small Medium Enterprise Development Bank Malaysia Berhad

("SME Bank") and a Non-Executive Non-Independent Director and Chairman of Payments Network Malaysia

Sdn Bhd ("PayNet"). Datuk Ahmad Hizzad does not have any interest in the shares of the Bank.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board of Directors Meetings

and re-designated as Chairman on 8 March 2022)

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid

Mr. Lim Kim Seng 

Mr. Guan Yeow Kwang

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin (tenure expired and retired on 7 March 

2022)
10/10

11/11

1/1

Annual Review of Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) Framework

Appointment of new Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Board Succession Plan FY2021

Notice of Non-Renewal of Appointment as Independent Non-Executive Director

MBM 3-Year Business Plan FY2021–2023 

Revision of Business Continuity Management (“BCM”) Policy

Review / Change of Organisation and Reporting Structure

MBM’s Climate Risk Framework

Annual Review of Shariah Risk Management Framework

11/11

11/11

Where appropriate, decisions are taken by way of circular resolutions in between scheduled meetings. During

the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Board had appraised and deliberated, amongst others, on the

following:

Annual Review of Risk Management Framework

Board Members
Attendance and Number of 

Meetings

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari (appointed as Director on 7 February 2022

Regulatory Stress Testing 

Submission of Annual Attestation Letter to BNM

Minutes of Tender Committee Meetings

Risk Appetite Statement

The Board Meetings for the year were scheduled early with due notice given to the Directors. Throughout the

financial year, the Board had held 11 Board Meetings to review, deliberate and consider a variety of

significant matters that required its guidance and approval. The Board Meetings and the record of the

attendance were as follows:

The Directors of the Bank meet regularly in order to discharge its Board duties effectively. A formal schedule

of matters specifically reserved for the decision of the Board was duly established for its proper governance

according to the requirements under the laws. The details of the roles and responsibilities of the Board are

duly enumerated in its TOR and the same can be found on the Bank’s corporate website.

Value Proposition FY2020 Performance Result

Credit related Proposals in accordance to the Bank's Credit Policy

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board of Directors Meetings (continued)

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Revision of Mizuho Financial Group's Recovery Plan

Shariah Research Paper on Zakat

Renewal of Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Coverage 

Revised Terms of Reference of Shariah Committee

Revised Shariah Committee Charter

Revision of Islamic Finance Policy

Attestation Letter to Bank Negara Malaysia on Confirmation of New Product

Revision of MBM Complaints Handling Policy

Where appropriate, decisions are taken by way of circular resolutions in between scheduled meetings. During

the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Board had appraised and deliberated, amongst others, on the

following (continued):

Reappointment of Messrs KPMG as External Auditor 

Non-Bank Financial Institution ("NBFI") Monitoring Reports

Proposed In-sourcing of Compliance function

Appointment of Authorised Signatory for Banking Accounts

Annual Schedule of Board and Board Committees Meeting FY2022/2023

Updates from LIBOR Discontinuation Task Force

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Establishment of Terms of Reference for Local Operations Committee

Revision of Terms of Reference of BCM Committee

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

Convening of Annual / Extraordinary General Meetings

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees

Board Audit Committee

(i)

(ii)

(iii) 

(iv)

The Board Audit Committee (“BAC”) provides support to the Board in ensuring that there is a reliable and

transparent financial reporting process within the Bank and in overseeing the effectiveness of the Bank's

Internal Audit function. 

In general, the BAC assists the Board in the following matters, inter alia:

Internal Audit Charter, significant audit reports, Senior Management’s corrective actions and other

audit matters identified by the Internal Audit Department (“IAD”); 

Internal audit report on the Bank’s risk management framework and its implementation and compliance

functions;

Appointment, confirmation, remuneration, promotion, cessation, the evaluation on qualification and fit

and proper criteria, succession plan, annual key performance indicators and annual performance

assessment of the Chief Internal Auditor;

Review on the effectiveness of the Internal Audit function and the independence of IAD and the

adequacy and appropriateness of resources for the Internal Audit function including Shariah Audit and

Information Technology Audit, the compensation scheme of the Internal Auditors to be consistent with

the objectives and the demands of the internal audit function, the qualification, capability and

professional competency and the continuing professional development programs of IAD personnel;

The Board has established the Board Oversight Committees stated below to assist the Board in carrying out

its roles and responsibilities. Each Board Oversight Committee has assumed the specific responsibilities

enumerated by BNM under Appendix 1 of BNM Corporate Governance and any other relevant BNM’s

guidelines/policies. 

Each Board Oversight Committee of the Bank has at least (3) three Directors and majority of whom are

Independent Non-Executive Directors. These Board Oversight Committees are chaired by an Independent

Non-Executive Director who is not the Chairman of the Board. It comprises Directors with the skills,

knowledge and experience relevant to the responsibilities of the Board Oversight Committees. With the

exception of the Board Nomination Committee, other Board Oversight Committees do not have an Executive

Director in its composition.

The mandate and operating procedures for each Board Oversight Committees are duly governed by its

respective TOR as approved by the Board from time to time. The Board remains fully accountable for any

authority delegated to the Board Oversight Committees. The details of the respective TOR can be found on

the Bank’s corporate website. 

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Audit Committee (continued)

(v)

(vi) 

(vii) 

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin (tenure expired and retired on 7 March 

2022)
7/7

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari (appointed on 7 February 2022) 1/1

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid 8/8

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

The details of BAC’s duties and responsibilities are set out in its TOR which is available on the Bank’s

corporate website.

Review, assess, and/or approve Shariah Audit Report, Shariah Audit Methodology, Shariah Audit

programs, Shariah Audit plan and deliverables of Shariah Audit function upon consultation with the

Shariah Committee, recommend appointment of external party to conduct independent Shariah Audit;

Information Technology Audit report and the corrective actions identified by IAD, Information

Technology Audit Plan, audit scope, procedures and frequency of information technology audits;

8/8

Review on the Directors’ Report, Corporate Governance Disclosures, Interim Financial Reports and

preliminary announcements in relation to the preparation of the Bank’s Financial Statements. 

Mr. Lim Kim Seng (Chairman)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Review on independent internal audit report on the effectiveness and compliance of the Bank’s internal

Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorism Financing (“AML/CFT”) measures;

Whistleblowing policy, release of the quarterly and the annual financial statements, change in the

financial year end, dividend policy and payment of the Bank, change or adoption of the accounting

policy, capitalization of the profits and reserve of the Bank and any report issued by a third-party on

the Bank’s Internal Control Framework;

Review on independent internal audit report on risk management and capital management processes

relating to the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”); and 

The BAC comprises three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors. The BAC is required to meet at least

once in every quarter and for this financial year, the meetings were held as follows:

In general, the BAC assists the Board in the following matters, inter alia (continued):

BAC Members
Attendance and Number of 

Meetings

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Audit Committee (continued)

• Revised Audit Charter

• Revised Terms of Reference of Board Audit Committee

• Revised Audit Manual

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

• Business Continuity Plan / Disaster Recovery Plan Independent Assessment & Reports

•

•

Annual Review of Compliance to PIDM Guidelines on Provision of Information on Deposit Insurance 

Updates on Remedial Action Plan arising from Parent Bank’s General Audit and Credit Review

FY2021

Risk-Based Audit Plan FYE2023

Assessment Report on Cyber Resilience for Participants of PayNet's Services

Performance Evaluation and Goal Setting of Chief Internal Auditor

Non-Audit Services Policy

Quarterly Self-Assessment Final Results 

Update on KPMG Audit Observations

Quarterly Unaudited Financial Statements and Business Performance Reports of the Bank

Status Progress of Audit Plan 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

System Risk Assessment ("SRA") for Outsourced Systems

Appointment of Ernst & Young Tax Co (Japan) for Preparation of Transfer Pricing Documentation

Quality Assurance Improvement Programme ("QAIP")

Remedial Action Plan - BNM Supervisory Assessment Composite Risk Rating ("CRR") 2020 and 2021

Private Session between BAC and Messrs KPMG PLT ("KPMG")

Audit Status for FYE 31st March 2021 by KPMG

Performance Review and Reappointment of KPMG as External Auditor of MBM

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the BAC had reviewed and deliberated on the following

matters, inter alia:

Audit and Investigation Reports

Credit Exposure with Connected Parties

Audited Financial Statements and Business Performance Report FYE 31 March 2021

KPMG Audit Plan, Scope and Fee for FYE 31 March 2022

Status of Audit Follow-up

16



Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Risk Management Committee

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

Review the adequacy and effectiveness of management’s internal controls and risk management

process;

Review management’s activities in managing principal risks such as credit, market, liquidity, interest

rate risk in the banking book, operational, compliance, IT risk, cyber risk and the risk management

process;

Review and assess the adequacy of risk management policies and frameworks in identifying,

measuring, monitoring and controlling risks and the extent to which these are operating effectively;

The Board Risk Management Committee (“BRMC”) was established with the objective of assisting the Board

in overseeing and ensuring sound risk strategy and effective risk management framework of the Bank that is

appropriate to the nature, scale and complexity of its activities. The BRMC further supports the Board in

meeting the expectations on risk management as set out in the policy documents issued by BNM.

Review the Bank’s business plan, information technology and cyber security strategic plans over a

three-year period and periodically review these plans at least once a year;

Ensure infrastructure, resources and systems are in place for risk management, and to ensure that the

staff responsible for implementing risk management systems perform those duties independently of the

Bank’s risk-taking activities;

Oversee the implementation of sound and robust risk management frameworks, including technology

risk management and cyber resilience;

Review the overall framework on the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”), the

development and effective implementation of the ICAAP;

Review the stress testing governance including the evaluation on the capital stress test scenarios,

parameters, key assumptions and results;

Evaluate the risks under stress scenarios and the Bank’s business and operations capacity to sustain

such risks;

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

 In general, the BRMC assists the Board in the following matters, inter alia:

Review and assess the adequacy of the Bank’s risk management policies and frameworks in

identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling risk, and the extent to which these policies are

effective;

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Promote consistent culture of risk awareness and risk management within the Bank, setting healthy risk

culture, establishing the tone-at-the-top and upholding standards of conduct, organisational practices

and corporate values that are consistent with the Bank’s overall risk appetite; 

Review and recommend risk management strategies, policies and risk appetite for Board’s approval.

This include credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, compliance risk, technology risk

and cyber security risk;
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Risk Management Committee (continued)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

(xx)

(xxi)

(xxii)

(xxiii)

The details of the duties and responsibilities of the BRMC are set out in its TOR which is available on the

Bank’s corporate website.

Review the assessment report on the data center infrastructure resiliency and network services

reliability;

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Receive and review management’s periodic reports on risk appetite, risk exposure, risk portfolio

composition, stress testing, key technology projects and risk management activities to ensure that the

results are aligned to the risk posture of the Bank;

Appointment, confirmation, remuneration, promotion, cessation, the evaluation on qualification and fit

and proper criteria, succession plan, annual key performance indicators and annual performance

assessment of the Chief Risk Officer and the Chief Compliance Officer.

 In general, the BRMC assists the Board in the following matters, inter alia (continued):

Receive and review reports from pertinent management committees;

Compliance related risk appetite, framework, policies and internal control systems, including

management information system, and oversee its implementation and ensure they are periodically

reviewed to remain appropriate;

Promote sound corporate governance and compliance culture which reinforces high ethical standards

and professional behaviours;

Discuss compliance issues regularly, in particular, material incidents of non-compliance that needs to

be reported to the BRMC and the Board promptly by the senior management, with adequate time and

priority is provided in the BRMC agenda for deliberation and ensuring issues are resolved effectively

and expeditiously;

The compliance matters include escalation and regular reporting from the Chief Compliance Officer on

Shariah non-compliance issues and findings, Shariah Advisory Council rulings and assessment on

compliance of the Bank’s business operations and activities with Shariah, as well as money laundering,

terrorism financing (“ML/TF”) and sanctions risks associated with the Bank’s business strategies,

operations, customers’ profiles, products, services and delivery channels offered; and

Evaluate the effectiveness of overall management of compliance risk, at least annually, having regard

to the assessments of senior management and internal audit, as well as the interactions with, and

reports escalated by the Chief Compliance Officer;

Keep abreast of, and understand the compliance risk associated with the Bank’s business strategies and

operations, and latest development on laws, regulations and standards;

Overseeing the management of compliance risk and overall compliance matters with laws, regulations

and standards;
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Risk Management Committee (continued)

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

• Enhancement of Expected Credit Loss ("ECL") Model

•

• Compliance Testing Plan 

• Adoption of Country Official Historical Data for ECL

• Review of Gross Domestic Product ("GDP") Source Providers for ECL

• Refinement of Management Overlay for ECL

•

• Compliance Culture Survey 

• Market Position Limits for FY2021

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin (tenure expired and retired on 7 March 

2022)
5/5

Annual Review of Impairment Policy

Revision of Foreign Exchange Notices Policy

Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy

Common Reporting Standard Policy

Annual Review of Market Risk Policy

Enhancement of Probability of Default Methodology

Performance Evaluation and Goal Setting of Chief Risk Officer ("CRO") and Chief Compliance 

Officer ("CCO")

Enhancement of Management Credit Committee ("MCC") Term of Reference

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the BRMC meetings were held to appraise and deliberate,

amongst others, on the following:

Risk Monitoring Reports from Risk Management Department 

Compliance Reports from Compliance Department

Revised Terms of Reference of Board Risk Management Committee

Enhancement of Asset And Liability Management Committee ("ALMC") Terms of Reference

Revision of Compliance Committee Terms of Reference

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ("ICAAP") Report FY2021

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

The BRMC comprises three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors. The BRMC meets at least once in

every quarter. The details of the BRMC Meetings held during the financial year in review are as follows:

BRMC Members
Attendance and Number of 

Meetings

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid (Chairman) 6/6

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari (appointed on 7 February 2022) 1/1

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Mr. Lim Kim Seng 6/6
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Risk Management Committee (continued)

• Data Centre and Network Risk Assessment Result

• BNM Industry-Wide Stress Test Exercise FY2021

• Compromise Assessment Result

• MBM’s Climate Change and Principal-base Taxonomy Implementation Plan

• Update on Parent Bank Credit Rating Model Validation

•

• Daily LCR and NSFR Internal Thresholds

•

•

•

•

•

•

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the BRMC meetings were held to appraise and deliberate,

amongst others, on the following (continued):

Deliberations of Compliance Committee

Annual Contingency Plan Rehearsal Results

Assurance to Board on Increased Vigilance on Illegal Financial Scheme and Mule Account

Deliberations of ALMC and MCC

Attestation on Compliance with Staff Training Fund

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Financing of Terrorism (“AML/CFT”) Thematic Report issued

by BNM

Update on Apache Log4j Vulnerability and Impact on MBM
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Nomination Committee 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Review on the Bank’s key policy, framework and any other regulatory reporting as may be required by

Regulators with regard to human resource, talent management, succession planning, corporate value

and ethical behavior of the Directors and employees of the Bank; and

Any material review and change of the Bank’s organisation and reporting structure, job grade and

classification particularly on the control function departments i.e. Internal Audit Department, Risk

Management Department and Compliance Department.

Appointment and reappointment of the Expatriate Staff;

Performance Management Framework/Model including the setting of the annual performance target

parameters and benchmark for the Bank’s Balanced Scorecard, manpower strategies and budget and

learning and development budget including the Directors Training Program; 

The details of BNC’s duties and responsibilities are set out in its TOR which is available on the Bank’s

corporate website.

The Board Nomination Committee (“BNC”) was established to assist the Board in developing, maintaining

and reviewing the Board’s overall strategic oversight responsibilities with regard to human resource, talent

management, succession planning, corporate value and ethical behaviour of the Directors and employees of

the Bank. In general, the BNC assists the Board on the following matters, inter alia:

Appointment/reappointment, cessation, terms and conditions/contract of service and the evaluation on

the qualification, fit and proper criteria, independent status and performance of Directors;

Appointment, reappointment, cessation, terms and conditions/contract of service and the evaluation on

the qualification, fit and proper criteria, independent status and performance of the Shariah Committee

Members;

Appointment, reappointment, cessation, evaluation on qualification and fit and proper criteria,

succession plan, annual key performance indicators and annual performance assessment of the CEO;

Appointment, confirmation, promotion, cessation, the evaluation on qualification and fit and proper

criteria, succession plan, annual key performance indicators and annual performance assessment of

other Senior Management, Material Risk Takers and Company Secretary;

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Nomination Committee (continued)

•

• Revision of Board Election Manual

• Annual Directors' Qualification, Fit and Proper Assessments

•

• Re-election of Directors under MBM's Constitution

• Appointment of new Deputy Chief Executive Officer

• Appointment of Chief Operating Officer

• Appointment of Head of Wholesale Banking / Deputy General Manager

• Resignation of Company Secretary

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Mr. Lim Kim Seng 

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid (Chairman)

Annual Assessment of FY2020 Performance Evaluation for Expatriates

6-Month Performance Progress Update of Newly Appointed Expatriates

1/1

Proposed Secondment of the Bank's staff

The membership of the BNC consists of all Directors of the Bank. For this financial year, there were ten (10)

BNC Meetings held. The details of the BNC meetings held during the financial year in review are as follows:

BNC Members
Attendance and Number of 

Meetings

10/10

10/10

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari (appointed on 7 February 2022)

10/10

Revised List of Key Responsible Person of MBM 

Review / Change of Organisation and Reporting Structure

FY2021 Goal Setting for Senior Officers, Material Risk Takers and Company Secretaries

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the BNC had appraised and deliberated on the following,

amongst others:

Revision of Terms of Reference of Board Nomination Committee

Annual Board, Board Oversight Committees and Directors Performance Evaluation

Annual Performance Evaluation for Senior Officers, Material Risk Takers and Company Secretaries

Annual Fit and Proper Assessment for Senior Officers, Material Risk Takers and Company Secretaries

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin (tenure expired and retired on 7 March 

2022)
9/9

Appointment and Re-Appointment of Expatriates

Mr. Guan Yeow Kwang
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Remuneration Committee

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v) The Bank promotes the behaviors that are aligned to the intended effects of incentive structures.

In general, the duties and responsibilities of the BRC include supporting the Board in actively overseeing the

design and operation of the Bank’s remuneration system in ensuring that:

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

The Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC”) was formed with the objective to assist the Board in

overseeing the establishment of sound remuneration systems being the key component of the governance and

incentive structure through which the Board and Senior Management drive performance, convey acceptable

risk taking behaviour and reinforce the Bank’s corporate and risk culture. 

There is sufficient risk-measurement expertise to understand the interaction between remuneration

practices and risk taking including the historical risk realisation trends to mediate disputes on how

remuneration should change during periods of high losses;

The overall remuneration system of the Bank be subjected to active oversight to ensure that the system

operates as intended, be in line with the business and risk strategies, corporate values and long-term

interests of the Bank, promote prudent risk-taking behaviour and encourage individuals to act in the

interests of the Bank as a whole, taking into account the interests of the Bank’s customers and be

designed and implemented with input from the Control Functions and the Board Risk Management

Committee to ensure that risk exposures and risk outcomes are adequately considered;

The remuneration for individuals within the Bank is aligned with prudent risk-taking, symmetric with

risk outcomes;

The remuneration payout schedules must reflect the time horizon of risks and take account of the

potential for financial risks to crystallize over a longer period of time including the compulsory

adoption by the Bank of a multi-year framework to measure the performance of Senior Management

and Material Risk Takers; and

The details of BRC’s duties and responsibilities are set out in its TOR which is available on the Bank’s

corporate website.
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Oversight Committees (continued)

Board Remuneration Committee (continued)

* There was no meeting held subsequent to the Director's appointment

•

•

•

•

Board Training and Development

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin (tenure expired and retired on 7 March 

2022)
2/2

Mr. Lim Kim Seng (Chairman)

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari (appointed on 7 February 2022)

The BRC comprises of three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors. The BRC had duly complied with the

minimum number of meeting whereby there were two (2) BRC meetings held during the financial year. The

details of the BRC meetings are as follows:

Revision of MBM's Remuneration Policy

2021 Compensation Review for Senior Officers, Material Risk Takers and Company Secretary

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the BRC had reviewed and deliberated on the following

matters, inter alia:

Total Compensation for Expatriates (April 2020 – March 2021)

The Directors of the Bank are required to maintain sound knowledge and understanding of the business of the

Bank as well as the relevant market and regulatory developments. For this purpose, the Bank had committed

in dedicating sufficient resources toward the on-going development of Directors including setting an adequate

budget, having in place development plans for Directors and regularly updating such plans to ensure that each

Director possesses the knowledge and skills necessary to fulfil his responsibilities. 

As required by BNM, all Directors are required to attend the compulsory program imposed from time to time,

i.e. "Financial Institutions Directors' Education" (FIDE) and Islamic Finance for Board" (IF4BoD). A

comprehensive in-house induction program was established to ease the new Directors into their new role and

to assist them in their understanding the management and operations of the Bank. 

2021 Compensation Review for All Eligible National Staff

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid 

*

2/2

2/2

BRC Members
Attendance and Number of 

Meetings
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Training and Development (continued)

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Invest Malaysia 2021 : Rebuilding A Sustainable Economy – Economic Reform

Tricor Webinar Training : Detecting Financial Frauds & Business Transformation

Bursa-FIDE Forum Dialogue on Restructuring Distressed SMEs/Budget 2022

CPE Course : Prevention of Financial Crime and Market Misconduct Under CMSA 2007 by CHK

Consultancy Sdn Bhd

MIDF Conversation on Economic Development and Relevant Public Policies

Infocomm Media Development Authority ("IMDA") ATxSummit 2021 : Tech for a Better Future

Rethinking Balance Sheet by Sage 3 and Leaderonomics

SIDC Webinar on Risk Oversight and Compliance

SIDC Webinar on Emerging and Current Regulatory Issues in the Capital Market

Webinar on Financing, Funding & Grants for SMEs in Turbulent Times by SME Lighthouse

PwC 24th Global CEO Survey Webinar

Securities Industry Development Corporation ("SIDC") Webinar on Director as Gatekeeper of Market

Participant

CPE Course : ESG, Stakeholder Capitalism and Sustainable and Responsible Investment (SRI) by

CHK Consultancy Sdn Bhd

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Apart from the compulsory programs and the in-house induction program, further effort was made in ensuring

the Directors’ continuous development. For this purpose, the Directors had participated in

seminar/training/workshop to keep abreast with latest developments in the banking and related sectors.

During the financial year, the Directors of the Bank had attended the following programs:

BNM-FIDE FORUM Annual Dialogue with Governor of Bank Negara Malaysia 

MIDF Green Conference 2022 Virtual Event

Kuala Lumpur Business Club ("KLBC") Webinar : France-Malaysia Business Outlook and

Opportunities

KLBC Dialogue Session with Chairman of Security Commission of Malaysia ("SC") on the Malaysian

Capital Market – Towards a More Sustainable Economy

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Cybersecurity Training 

JC3 Flagship Conference : JC3 Outcomes and Implications for Financial Institutions

JC3 Flagship Conference : Sustainable Finance for the Private Sector

The Joint Committee on Climate Change ("JC3") Flagship Conference : Sustainability as a Business

Strategy for Fls
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Training and Development (continued)

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin 

•

•

•

•

•

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Mr. Lim Kim Seng 

•

•

•

•

•

•

BNM-FIDE FORUM Annual Dialogue with Governor of Bank Negara Malaysia 

Compliance Training for Directors by the Bank

BNM-FIDE FORUM MyFintech Week Masterclasses

BNM - World Bank Group Report Launch on Exploring Nature-Related Financial Risks In Malaysia 

Financial Institutions Directors’ Education (FIDE) Programme - Core Module B (Bank) - Board

Simulation 

Sustainable Development Goals by SME Bank

BNM MyFintech Week 2022 

Knowledge Sharing Session on IFRS 9, ECL & Staging and RAROC by KFH

BNM-FIDE FORUM Dialogue: Risk-Based Capital Framework for Insurers and Takaful Operators

FIDE FORUM Webinar : The 2050 Net Zero Carbon Emissions Target: Finance’s Role

Cyber Risk Awareness

BNM-FIDE FORUM Annual Dialogue with Governor of Bank Negara Malaysia 

Compliance Training for Directors by the Bank

BNM-FIDE FORUM-MASB Dialogue on MFRS17 Insurance Contracts: What Every Director Must

Know  

Conversations on Central Banking: Green Finance and Central Banking by Asia School of Business

("ASB")

BNM-FIDE FORUM Dialogue on Risk Management in Technology (RMiT): Insights 1 year on

Asia-Pacific Board Leadership Centre Webinar on Board and Audit Committee Priorities 2021 

BNM-FIDE FORUM Dialogue: The Future of Malaysia's Financial Sector

Implementing Amendments in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance by ASB/ICLIF

Compliance Resilience - Emerging Trends & Challenges on AML/CFT by Asian Banking School

("ABS") 

BNM Engagement with CEOs/Chairmen of Insurance Companies/Takaful Operators in conjunction

with the release of BNM's Annual Report 2021, Economic & Monetary Review 2021 and Financial

Stability Review Second Half 2021 

Asia-Pacific Board Leadership Centre Webinar on Board and Audit Committee Priorities 2021

BNM-FIDE FORUM Dialogue: The Role of Independent Director

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Cybersecurity Risk Landscape by SME Bank

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Compliance Training for Directors by the Bank

Renewable Energy Landscape in Malaysia by SME Bank

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Board Training and Development (continued)

Mr. Guan Yeow Kwang

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

In-house Training : Anti-Money Laundering (AML)

In-house Training : Personal Securities Trading

In-house Training : Competition Law

In-house Training : FX Global Codes

Sustainability Finance Executive Program 

In-house Training : Code of Conduct: London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), Singapore Interbank

Offered Rate (SIBOR) & Tokyo Interbank Offered Rate (TIBOR)

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Malaysian Institute of Accountants - Shariah Governance: Legal and Regulatory Updates

Compliance Training for Directors by the Bank

NUS-Mizuho Asia Leadership Program as Panelist

In-house Training : Operational Risk Management

In-house Training : Anti-Social Elements

In-house Training : Anti-Bribery & Corruption	

In-house Training : Individual Accountability & Conduct Framework

In-house Training : Information Control, PDPA and Banking Secrecy
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Shariah Committee

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The Bank's Shariah Committee was established to ensure that the aims and operations of the Bank's business

in Islamic finance are in compliance with Shariah principles at all times. The roles and responsibilities of the

Bank's Shariah Committee are as prescribed in the policy document of Shariah Governance issued by BNM

and in compliance with the respective members' letter of appointment.

The details of attendance of each member at Shariah Committee meetings held during the financial year

ended 31 March 2022 are as follows:

Attendance and 

Number of Meetings
Shariah Committee Members

5/5

During the financial year, the Bank maintained the composition of the Shariah Committee with three

members where the Chairman is Dr Mohd Edil bin Abd Sukor and the members are Dr Abdullaah bin Jalil

and En Megat Hizaini bin Hassan. 

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

En. Megat Hizaini bin Hassan (appointed on 1 May 2021)

Endorsing a rectification measure to address a Shariah non-compliance event.

Providing a decision or advice to the Bank on the application of any rulings of the Shariah Advisory

Council (SAC) or standards on Shariah matters that are applicable to the operations, business, affairs and

activities of the Bank;

The Shariah Committee has the responsibility to provide objective and sound advice to the Bank to ensure

that its aims and operations, business, affairs and activities are in compliance with Shariah. This includes:

Dr. Mohd Zakhiri bin Md Nor (tenure expired on 30 April 2021) 1/1

5/5

Deliberating and affirming a Shariah non-compliance finding by any relevant functions; and

Providing a decision or advice on matters which require a reference to be made to the SAC;

Providing a decision or advice on the operations, business, affairs and activities of the Bank which may

trigger a Shariah non-compliance event;

5/5

Dr. Mohd Edil bin Abd Sukor (appointed as Chairman on 30 April 2021)

Dr Abdullaah bin Jalil 
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Remuneration strategy

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Design and structure of the remuneration system of the Bank

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The remuneration system in the Bank forms a key component of the governance and incentive structure

through which all employees including the senior management and other material risk takers drive

performance, convey acceptable risk taking behaviour and reinforce the Bank's corporate and risk culture.

The goal is to ensure the remuneration system in the Bank is aligned with other management tools in the

pursuit of prudent risk taking.

The fundamental objective of the Bank’s Remuneration Policy is to ensure that the Bank has its remuneration

framework that is robust and effective in:

attracting and retaining employees including senior management and other material risk takers of

requisite quality that increases productivity and profitability in the long run;

motivating and creating incentives for the employees including senior management or other material risk

taker to perform at their best; and

focusing attention on the achievement of desired goals and objectives.

The remuneration structure of the Bank comprises of Fixed Pay (“FP”) and Variable Compensation (“VC”).

The policy is a balanced formula to attract and retain talent whilst ensuring that the Bank’s funds are not

misused or used in a manner that compromises the on-going viability, solvency and reputation of the Bank.

The policy is applicable to all employees including senior management and other material risk takers of the

Bank only and does not extend to any other entity within the Mizuho group of entities.

The meaning of “senior management”, “other material risk takers” and “senior officers” respectively, have

the same meaning as prescribed under the Guidelines on Corporate Governance and the Fit and Proper

Criteria issued by Bank Negara Malaysia.

The Human Resources (“HR”) department reviews the remuneration system to ensure it supports the

achievement of the Bank’s strategic objectives. The review will consider a range of factors including market

practice, changes in market conditions, regulatory developments and our overarching remuneration

principles.

The control functions of Audit and Risk operate independently from the business units in the Bank, and have

appropriate authority to carry out their individual functions without intervention from the business units. To

prevent conflict of interest, remuneration of employees in these control functions are not dictated by business

units that they support and are ultimately subject to the approval of the Board. Remuneration of the Chief

Risk Officer and the Chief Internal Auditor are approved by the Board Risk Management Committee and

Board Audit Committee.
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Remuneration strategy (continued)

Considerations of risk and performance in the remuneration system of the Bank
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

In the Bank, the overall remuneration framework takes into consideration risk in the industry and the

performance of the individuals within the organisation. As the remuneration structure mainly consists of FP

and VC, we set out below the main considerations for each type of remuneration.

FP is the primary compensation component for all employees of the Bank. Management will decide on the

amount of FP for each employee where management will take into account factors such as the individual

employee’s performance, prevailing market or industry level of remuneration and the position held by the

individual employee.

VC is based on the industry objective of retaining cost flexibility while attracting and retaining the right

talent. The VC in the Bank comprises of contractual, performance-based and special bonuses. The VC is cash-

based and does not involve a mix of different forms of variable remuneration (i.e. mix of cash, shares or share-

linked instruments).

The budget for the total amount of VC, i.e. the size of the bonus pool, is calculated according to the risk

adjusted performance results approved by the Board and is subject to the Board’s discretion. This method

ensures the Bank to fix the variable remuneration pool after considering risk exposures and changes and to

maintain effective risk management through the remuneration mechanism.

In the Bank, performance indicators are an important element for remuneration. Annual salary increments and

promotions are also judged based on the overall evaluation of the employee’s performance and the applicable

salary levels within the Bank. The portion of VC provided to each employee is also based on the employee's

"Final Evaluation Grade" which is determined based on the evaluation of the employee's performance.

Employees' performance in the Bank is judged based on a combination of financial achievements and non-

financial elements such as compliance with risk management policies, adherence to legal, regulatory and

ethical standard, customer service and effectiveness and efficiency of supporting operations. The Bank sets

annual key performance indicators and the parameters are specifically tailored to the area each individual

involved is in and has a level of control over. The level set for each KPI is based on budgeted figures for the

Bank and respective industry standards. The individual KPI reflects the Bank’s 5 core values of Customer

First, Innovative Spirit, Passion, Speed and Team Spirit.

Given the relatively smaller size of the Bank's business operations, the Bank does not maintain a policy on

deferral of the VC awarded to its employees. However, the Bank will keep in mind to update its remuneration

policy and framework should the business requirements indicate such a need in the future.
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Remuneration strategy (continued)

Directors' remuneration

The Directors' remuneration is disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.

Remuneration disclosure for senior management and other material risk takers 

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Senior Management

Fixed remuneration

Cash based 2,708 -          7 2,568 -          6

Others 813 -          7 680 -          6

Variable remuneration

Cash based 779 -          7 380 -          5

Others 128 -          7 92 -          6

4,428 -          7 3,720 -          6

Other material risk takers 

Fixed remuneration

Cash based 843              -          2            1,019           -          3            

Others 181              -          2            368              -          3            

Variable remuneration

Cash based 222              -          2            306              -          3            

Others 3                  -          2            131              -          3            

1,249           -          2            1,824           -          3            

5,677           -          9            5,544           -          9            

Number 

of 

Officers Unrestricted Deferred 

2022 2021

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
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Deferred 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Total value of remuneration 

awards for the financial year

Total

Number 

of 

OfficersUnrestricted
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Related Party Transactions

There were no other significant related party transactions other than as reported in Note 26.

Management Information

Directors' Interests in Shares

Issue of shares and debentures

Directors' benefits

Indemnity and insurance costs

During the financial year, the total amount of indemnity given to Directors of the Bank and the premium paid 

is RM10,000,000 and RM31,545 respectively.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

According to the Register of Directors' shareholdings, the Directors in office at the end of the financial year

did not have any interest in shares and options over shares in the Bank and its related corporations during the

financial year.

There were no changes in the issued and paid-up share capital of the Bank during the financial year. There

were no debentures issued during the financial year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Bank has received nor become entitled to

receive any benefit (other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and

receivable by Directors or the fixed salary of full time employee of the Bank) by reason of a contract made by

the Bank or a related corporation with any Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with

a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest.

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during the financial year, did there subsist any

arrangements to which the Bank was a party whereby Directors might acquire benefits by means of the

acquisition of shares in or debenture of the Bank or any other body corporate.

During the financial year, there were no indemnity given or insurance effected for officers and auditors of the 

Bank.

All the Directors have reviewed the Board reports prior to the Board Meetings. Information and materials,

duly endorsed by the CEO and the relevant functional heads that are important to the Directors' understanding

of the agenda items and related topics are distributed in advance prior to the date of the meeting. The Board

reports, amongst others, include the quarterly performance of the Bank, minutes of the various Board and

Management Committees, risk portfolio reports, any other prevailing regulatory developments as well as

economic and business environment updates. 
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2022 2021

Note RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 4 1,930,307    1,068,070    

Deposits and placements with financial institutions 5 1,397,000    282,343       

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income ("FVOCI") 6 1,990,351    1,903,042    

Loans, advances and financing 7 7,114,388    8,011,411    

Derivative financial assets 8 91,400         156,525       

Other assets 9 32,167         102,404       

Right of use assets 10 9,478           9,185           

Property and equipment 11 5,158           5,235           

Intangible assets 12 6,034           7,159           

Current tax assets 13,787         8,699           

Deferred tax assets 13 -              3,104           

Total assets 12,590,070  11,557,177  

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 14 4,024,231    2,742,540    

Deposits and placements from financial institutions 15 6,789,195    7,077,317    

Derivative financial liabilities 8 70,713         153,581       

Lease liabilities 9,564           9,276           

Other liabilities 16 105,397       61,642         

Deferred tax liabilities 13 2,619           -               

Total liabilities 11,001,719  10,044,356  

Equity

Share capital 17 1,200,000    1,200,000    

Reserves 18 388,351       312,821       

Total equity attributable to owners of the Bank 1,588,351    1,512,821    

Total liabilities and equity 12,590,070  11,557,177  

Commitments and contingencies 28 13,886,651  15,327,877  

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2022

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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2022 2021

Note RM'000 RM'000

Interest income 19 150,903       194,320       

Interest expense 20 (57,202)       (88,015)        

Net interest income 93,701         106,305       

Other operating income 21 78,974         75,549         

Total net income 172,675       181,854       

Other operating expenses 22 (79,248)       (79,831)        

Operating profit 93,427         102,023       

Writeback of allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") 24 11,712         8,370           

Profit before taxation 105,139       110,393       

Tax expense 25 (25,873)       (30,627)        

Profit for the financial year 79,266         79,766         

Other comprehensive loss that will be reclassified to profit or loss

in future periods:

Fair value changes of financial assets at FVOCI (4,916)         (5,126)          

Income tax effect 1,180           1,230           

Other comprehensive loss for the financial year (3,736)         (3,896)          

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 75,530         75,870         

Profit attributable to:

Owner of the Bank 79,266         79,766         

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owner of the Bank 75,530         75,870         

Basic earnings per share (sen) 27 6.61             6.65             

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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Distributable

                                     Non-distributable reserves reserves

Share Regulatory FVOCI Retained

capital reserve reserve profits Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 April 2021 1,200,000         - 1,016                311,805            1,512,821         

Profit for the financial year - - - 79,266              79,266              

Other comprehensive loss - - (3,736)               - (3,736)               

Transfer to regulatory reserve - 30,534              - (30,534)             -

At 31 March 2022 1,200,000         30,534              (2,720)               360,537            1,588,351         

At 1 April 2020 700,000            21,489              4,912                210,550            936,951            

Issuance of shares 500,000            - - - 500,000            

Profit for the financial year - - - 79,766              79,766              

Other comprehensive loss - - (3,896)               - (3,896)               

Transfer from regulatory reserve - (21,489)             - 21,489              -

At 31 March 2021 1,200,000         - 1,016                311,805            1,512,821         

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Profit before taxation 105,139     110,393     

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of right of use assets 4,917         4,920         

Depreciation of property and equipment 2,613         2,627         

Amortisation of intangible assets 3,051         4,448         

Writeback of allowance for ECL (11,712)      (8,370)        

Amortisation of premium net of accretion of discount 26,502       15,427       

Net unrealised loss on revaluation of derivatives 12,718       4,197         

Net unrealised gain on revaluation of financial assets at fair value 

  through profit or loss ("FVTPL") (1,992)        (1,032)        

Unrealised foreign exchange gain (38,627)      (29,290)      

Operating profit before changes in working capital 102,609     103,320     

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets

Deposits and placements with financial institutions 16,214       983,909     

Loans, advances and financing 896,021     1,019,851  

Other assets 109,007     (40,014)      

Amount owing by holding company 56              56              

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 

Deposits from customers 1,281,691  (83,947)      

Deposits and placements from financial institutions (288,122)    (2,144,170) 

Other liabilities 27,942       (146,270)    

Cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 2,145,418  (307,265)    

Taxation paid (24,253)      (39,200)      

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 2,121,165  (346,465)    

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment (2,536)        (1,021)        

Purchase of intangible assets (1,926)        (1,269)        

Purchase of financial assets at FVOCI (118,727)    (788,682)    

Net cash used in investing activities (123,189)    (790,972)    

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Cash flows from financing activities

Issuance of new shares -                 500,000     

Payment of lease liabilities (4,922)        (4,923)        

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (4,922)        495,077     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,993,054  (642,360)    

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 April 2021/2020 1,068,169  1,710,529  

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March 3,061,223  1,068,169  

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and short-term funds (Note 4) 1,930,352  1,068,169  

Deposits and placements with financial institutions (Note 5) 1,397,000  282,343     

Less: deposits and placements with financial institutions with original

contractual maturity of more than 3 months (266,129)    (282,343)    

3,061,223  1,068,169  

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Lease

liabilities

RM'000

At 1 April 2021 9,276         

Net change from financing activity (4,922)        

Acquisition of new lease 6,360         

Other changes (1,150)        

At 31 March 2022 9,564         

At 1 April 2020 12,240       

Net change from financing activity (4,923)        

Acquisition of new lease 1,473         

Other changes 486            

At 31 March 2021 9,276         

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1. Corporate Information

2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements 

(a) Statement of compliance

i) Amendments to MFRS 16

ii) Amendments to MFRS 7,

Amendments to MFRS 9,

Amendments to MFRS 16,

and Amendments to MFRS 

139

iii) Amendments to MFRS 16

The immediate holding company and ultimate holding company of the Bank are Mizuho Bank, Ltd. and

Mizuho Financial Group, Inc. respectively, both are incorporated in Japan.

The principal activities of the Bank are banking and related financial services. There have been no

significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

Mizuho Bank (Malaysia) Berhad is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia.

The registered office and principal place of business of the Bank is located at Level 27, Menara Maxis,

Kuala Lumpur City Centre, 50088, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Financial Instruments: Disclosures, Financial Instruments, Leases,

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Interest

Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2

Leases - Covid 19 - Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The adoption of the above pronouncements do not have any material impact on the financial statements

of the Bank.

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial

Reporting Standards ("MFRSs"), International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") and the

requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The accounting policies adopted by the Bank

are consistent with those adopted in the most recent annual financial statements for the financial year

ended 31 March 2021, except for the adoption of the following MFRS, Amendments to MFRSs and

Interpretation during the current financial year end which are relevant to the Bank:

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 July 2022.

Leases - Covid 19 - Related Rent Concessions 
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2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued)

Amendments to MFRS 7, MFRS 9, MFRS 16, MFRS 139: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -

Phase 2

The amendments address issues that arise from the implementation of interest rate benchmark reforms,

focusing on issues that affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced

with an alternative nearly risk-free rate.

The amendments, among others, include a practical expedient to require contractual changes, or

changes to cash flows that are directly required by the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating

interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. In applying the practical expedient,

an entity is required to first identify and account for modifications to the instrument by updating the

effective interest rate without adjusting the carrying amount. As a result, no immediate gain or loss is

recognised.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021,

retrospectively in accordance with MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates

and Errors , without the need to restate comparative information. Restatement of prior periods is

permitted if, and only if, it is possible without the use of hindsight. Earlier application is permitted.

These amendments do not have any significant impact to the financial statements of the Bank.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued)

Accounting standards not yet effective

i)

ii)

iii)

iv)

i)

ii)

iii)

The Standards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretations that are issued but not yet effective and

which are relevant to the Bank, up to the date of issuance of the Bank’s financial statements are

disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these pronouncements, if applicable, when they become

effective.

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single Transaction

The initial application of the abovementioned pronouncements are not expected to have any material

impact to the financial statements of the Bank.

Amendments to Illustrative 

Examples accompanying 

MFRS 16

Leases (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 - 2020

cycle)

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2023

Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-Current and Disclosures of Accounting Policies

Amendments to MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors -

Definition of Accounting Estimates

MFRSs, Interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2022

Amendments to MFRS 9

Amendments to MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets - Onerous

Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Financial Instruments (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards

2018 - 2020 cycle)

Amendments to MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use
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2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

(b) Basis of measurement

(c) Functional and presentation currency

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

i) Estimation of the Bank's ECL

In determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities, the Bank makes assumptions of the

effects of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at the reporting date. The estimates and

assumptions used are based on historical experience and expectation of future events and are reviewed

periodically. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is

revised and in any future periods affected.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and

estimates are significant to the financial statements, are described in the following notes:

The Bank reviews its individually significant loans, advances and financing at each reporting date

to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss. In particular,

management's judgement is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash

flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Bank makes

judgements about the borrower's or the customer's financial situation and the net realisable value

of collateral. These estimates are based on assumptions on a number of factors and actual results

may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowances. 

These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM"), which is the Bank's functional

currency. All financial information is presented in RM and has been rounded to the nearest thousand,

unless otherwise stated.

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except as mentioned in the

respective accounting policy notes.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the MFRSs requires management to make

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date

of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported

period. It also requires Directors to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Bank's

accounting policies. Although these estimates and judgements are based on the Directors' best

knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ from these estimates.
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2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

i) Estimation of the Bank's ECL (continued)

•

•

•

•

•

•

ii) Fair value estimation of financial assets and financial liabilities

Development of ECL models, including the various formulae and the choice of inputs;

Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such

as gross domestic product and collateral values, and the effect on PD, exposure at default

("EAD"), and loss given default ("LGD"); and

Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to

derive the economic inputs into the ECL models.

The Bank's ECL calculations under MFRS 9 are outputs of complex models with a number of

underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies.

Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and estimates include: 

Criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances

for financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessments

thereon;

The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

Internal credit grading model, which assigns probability of default ("PD") to the individual

grades;

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The fair values of financial investments and derivatives that are not traded in an active market are

determined using appropriate valuation techniques based on assumptions of market conditions

existing at the reporting date, including reference to quoted market prices and independent dealer

quotes for similar financial instruments and discounted cash flows method.

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statement of

financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of

valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is

taken from observable markets where possible but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement

is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include consideration of liquidity and model

inputs such as correlation and volatility for longer dated derivatives.

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
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(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

iii) Estimation of tax provisions and deferred tax assets 

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is probable that

future taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Judgment is required

to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing

and level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies.

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Significant judgement is required in estimating the provision for income taxes. There are many

transactions and interpretations of tax law for which the final outcome will not be established until

some time later. Liabilities for taxation are recognised based on estimates of whether additional

taxes will be payable. The estimation process includes seeking advice on the tax treatments where

appropriate. Where the final liability for taxation is different from the amounts that were initially

recorded, the differences will affect the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in

which the estimate is revised or the final liability is established.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Financial instruments 

i)

A) Financial assets held at amortised cost and FVOCI

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these

financial statements by the Bank, unless otherwise stated.

The Bank classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories: amortised cost;

fair value through other comprehensive income; and fair value through profit or loss. Financial

liabilities are classified as either amortised cost, or held at fair value through profit or loss.

Management determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition

of the instruments or, where applicable, at the time of reclassification.

Debt instruments held at amortised cost or held at FVOCI, have contractual terms that give rise

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI" characteristics).

Principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition but this may change over

the life of the instrument as amounts are repaid. Interest consists of consideration for the time

value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a

particular period and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows have SPPI characteristics, the Bank considers

the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset

contains contractual terms that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows

such that it would not meet this condition.

Whether financial assets are held at amortised cost or at FVOCI depend on the objectives of the

business models under which the assets are held. A business model refers to how the Bank

manages financial assets to generate cash flows.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

i)

A) Financial assets held at amortised cost and FVOCI (continued)

B) Financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL

Mandatorily classified at FVTPL

Financial assets and liabilities which are mandatorily held at FVTPL include:

-

- hybrid financial assets that contain one or more embedded derivatives;

-

- equity instruments that have not been designated as held at FVOCI; and

- financial liabilities that constitute contingent consideration in a business combination.

Designated at FVTPL

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Financial assets which are not held at amortised cost or that are not held at FVOCI are held at

FVTPL. Financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL are either mandatorily classified at

FVTPL or irrevocably designated at FVTPL at initial recognition.

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at

the individual product business line, and where applicable within business lines depending on

the way the business is managed and information is provided to management.

Financial assets which have SPPI characteristics and that are held within a business model

whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows ("hold to collect")

are recorded at amortised cost. Conversely, financial assets which have SPPI characteristics but

are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual

cash flows and selling financial assets ("hold to collect and sell") are classified as held at

FVOCI.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

financial assets and liabilities held for trading, which are those acquired principally for the

purpose of selling in the short term;

financial assets that would otherwise be measured at amortised cost or FVOCI but which do

not have SPPI characteristics;

Financial assets and liabilities may be designated at FVTPL when the designation eliminates or

significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise

from measuring assets or liabilities on a different basis ("accounting mismatch").
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

i)

B) Financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL (continued)

Designated at FVTPL (continued)

C) Financial liabilities held at amortised cost

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Interest rate swaps have been acquired with the intention of significantly reducing interest rate

risk on certain loans and advances and debt securities with fixed rates of interest. To

significantly reduce the accounting mismatch between assets and liabilities and measurement

bases, these loans and advances and debt securities have been designated at fair value through

profit or loss.

Financial liabilities may also be designated at FVTPL where they are managed on a fair value

basis or have an embedded derivative where the Bank is not able to separately value the

embedded derivative component.

Fair value changes due to the Bank's own credit risk are recorded in other comprehensive

income rather than profit or loss, unless this creates an accounting mismatch.

Financial liabilities that are not financial guarantees or loan commitments and that are not

classified as financial liabilities held at FVTPL are classified as financial liabilities held at

amortised cost.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal market for

the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market to

which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability includes the risk that the Bank

will not be able to honour its obligations.

The fair value of financial instruments is generally measured on the basis of the individual

financial instrument. However, when a group of financial assets and financial liabilities is managed

on the basis of its net exposure to either market risk or credit risk, the fair value of the group of

financial instruments is measured on a net basis.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

i)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

A) Financial assets and financial liabilities held at amortised cost

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The fair values of quoted financial assets and liabilities in active markets are based on current

prices. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with

sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. If the market

for a financial instrument, and for unlisted securities, is not active, the Bank establishes fair value

by using valuation techniques.

Purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL, and debt securities classified

as financial assets held at FVOCI are initially recognised on the trade-date (the date on which the

Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset). Loans and advances and other financial assets held at

amortised cost are recognised on settlement date (the date on which cash is advanced to the

borrowers).

All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is normally the transaction

price, plus directly attributable transaction costs for financial assets which are not subsequently

measured at FVTPL.

In certain circumstances, the initial fair value may be based on a valuation technique which may

lead to the recognition of profits or losses at the time of initial recognition. However, these profits

or losses can only be recognised when the valuation technique used is based solely on observable

market data. In those cases where the initially recognised fair value is based on a valuation model

that uses unobservable inputs, the difference between the transaction price and the valuation model

is not recognised immediately in profit or loss but is amortised or released to profit or loss as the

inputs become observable, or the transaction matures or is terminated.

Financial assets and financial liabilities held at amortised cost are subsequently carried at

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are

recognised in profit or loss.

56



3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

i)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

B) Financial assets held at FVOCI

C) Financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL

D) Financial liabilities designated at FVTPL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Debt instruments held at FVOCI are subsequently carried at fair value, with all unrealised gains

and losses arising from changes in fair value (including any related foreign exchange gains or

losses) recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of

equity. Foreign exchange gains and losses on the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in expected credit losses are recognised in profit or loss and are accumulated in a

separate component of equity. On derecognition, the cumulative fair value gains or losses, net

of the cumulative ECL reserve, are transferred to profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities mandatorily held at FVTPL and financial assets designated at

FVTPL are subsequently carried at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair

value recorded in the net trading income line in profit or loss unless the instrument is part of a

cash flow hedging relationship. Contractual interest income on financial assets held at FVTPL

is recognised as interest income in a separate line in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated at FVTPL are held at fair value, with changes in fair value

recognised in the net trading income line in profit or loss, other than changes attributable to

changes in credit risk. Fair value changes attributable to credit risk are recognised in other

comprehensive income and recorded in a separate category of reserves unless this is expected to

create or enlarge an accounting mismatch, in which case the entire change in fair value of the

financial liability designated FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

ii) Reclassifications 

Financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to initial recognition.

A) Reclassified from amortised cost

B) Reclassified from FVOCI
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Reclassifications of financial assets are made when, and only when, the business model for those

assets changes. Such changes are expected to be infrequent and arise as a result of significant

external or internal changes such as the termination of a line of business or the purchase of a

subsidiary whose business model is to realise the value of pre-existing held for trading financial

assets through a hold to collect model. Financial assets are reclassified at their fair value on the

date of reclassification and previously recognised gains and losses are not restated. Moreover,

reclassifications of financial assets between financial assets held at amortised cost and financial

assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income do not affect effective interest rate or

ECL computations.

Where financial assets held at amortised cost are reclassified to financial assets held at FVTPL,

the difference between the fair value of the assets at the date of reclassification and the

previously recognised amortised cost is recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets held at amortised cost that are reclassified to FVOCI, the difference

between the fair value of the assets at the date of reclassification and the previously recognised

gross carrying value is recognised in other comprehensive income. Additionally, the related

cumulative ECL amounts relating to the reclassified financial assets are reclassified from loan

loss provisions to a separate reserve in other comprehensive income at the date of

reclassification.

Where financial assets held at FVOCI are reclassified to financial assets held at FVTPL, the

cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred to

profit or loss.

For financial assets held at FVOCI that are reclassified to financial assets held at amortised

cost, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is

adjusted against the fair value of the financial asset such that the financial asset is recorded at a

value as if it had always been held at amortised cost. In addition, the related cumulative ECL

held within other comprehensive income are reversed against the gross carrying value of the

reclassified assets at the date of reclassification.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

ii) Reclassifications (continued)

C) Reclassified from FVTPL

iii) Derecognition of financial instruments

iv) Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose

terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or

convention in the marketplace concerned.
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Where financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss are reclassified to financial

assets held at FVOCI or financial assets held at amortised cost, the fair value at the date of

reclassification is used to determine the effective interest rate on the financial asset going

forward. In addition, the date of reclassification is used as the date of initial recognition for the

calculation of ECL. Where financial assets held at FVTPL are reclassified to financial assets

held at amortised cost, the fair value at the date of reclassification becomes the gross carrying

value of the financial asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets

have expired or where the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. If

substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither retained nor transferred and the Bank has

retained control, the assets continue to be recognised to the extent of the Bank's continuing

involvement.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or

the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of the

consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any

cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in

profit or loss except for equity instruments designated at FVOCI and cumulative fair value

adjustments attributable to the credit risk of a liability that are held in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. A financial liability is

extinguished when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires and this is evaluated both

qualitatively and quantitatively.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

iv) Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets (continued)

•

•

v) Derivative instruments 

The Bank trades derivatives such as interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. 

vi) Offsetting

vii) Impairment of financial assets 

A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, as applicable,

using trade date accounting. Trade date accounting refers to:

derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the

recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date.

the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and

Derivative instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is normally zero or negligible at

inception for non-option derivatives and equivalent to the market premium paid or received for

purchased or written options. The derivatives are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair

values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market

transactions and valuation techniques that include discounted cash flow models and option pricing

models, as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as

liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of any derivatives that do not

qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented on the statements of

financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and the intention

to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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ECL are determined for all financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, undrawn

commitments and financial guarantee contract, which include loans, advances and financing and

debt instruments held by the Bank. The ECL model also applies to contract assets under MFRS 15,

Revenue from Contracts with Customers  and lease receivables under MFRS 16, Leases .

Income and expense are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards.

60



3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

vii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement

ECL are computed as unbiased, probability weighted amounts which are determined by evaluating

a range of reasonably possible outcomes, the time value of money, and considering all reasonable

and supportable information including that which is forward-looking. The estimate of expected

cash shortfalls is determined by multiplying the PD with the LGD with the EAD.

Forward looking economic assumptions are incorporated into the PD, LGD and EAD where

relevant and where they influence credit risk, such as GDP growth rates, interest rates and

commodity prices amongst others. These assumptions are incorporated using the Bank's most likely

forecast for a range of macroeconomic assumptions. These forecasts are determined using all

reasonable and supportable information, which includes both internally developed forecasts and

those available externally, and are consistent with those used for budgeting, forecasting and capital

planning.

To account for the potential non-linearity in credit losses, multiple forward-looking scenarios are

incorporated into the range of reasonably possible outcomes for all material portfolios. For

example, where there is a greater risk of downside credit losses than upside gains, multiple forward-

looking economic scenarios are incorporated into the range of reasonably possible outcomes, both

in respect of determining the PD (and where relevant, the LGD and EAD) and in determining the

overall ECL amounts.

The period over which cash shortfalls are determined is generally limited to the maximum

contractual period for which the Bank is exposed to credit risk. 

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

An ECL represents the present value of expected cash shortfalls over the residual term of a

financial asset, undrawn commitment or financial guarantee.

A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due in accordance with the

contractual terms of the instrument and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive over the

contractual life of the instrument.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

vii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Recognition

A) 12-months ECL (Stage 1)

B) Significant increase in credit risk (Stage 2)
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Expected credit losses are recognised at the time of initial recognition of a financial instrument

and represent the lifetime cash shortfalls arising from possible default events up to 12 months

into the future from the reporting date. ECL continue to be determined on this basis until there

is either a significant increase in the credit risk of an instrument or the instrument becomes

credit-impaired. If an instrument is no longer considered to exhibit a significant increase in

credit risk, expected credit losses will revert to being determined on a 12-month basis.

If a financial asset experiences a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an

ECL provision is recognised for default events that may occur over the lifetime of the asset.

Significant increase in credit risk is assessed by comparing the risk of default of an exposure at

the reporting date to the risk of default at origination (after taking into account the passage of

time). Significant does not mean statistically significant nor it is assessed in the context of

changes in ECL. Whether a change in the risk of default is significant or not is assessed using a

number of quantitative and qualitative factors, the weight of which depends on the type of

product and counterparty. Financial assets that are 30 or more days past due and not credit-

impaired will always be considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk.

Quantitative factors include an assessment of whether there has been rating notch downgrade

since origination. Qualitative factors assessed include those linked to current credit risk

management processes, such as accounts under watch list monitoring. Watch list monitoring

account is one which exhibits risk or potential weaknesses of a material nature requiring closer

monitoring, supervision, or attention by management. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

vii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Recognition (continued)

C) Credit impaired (Stage 3)

-

-

- Restructuring and rescheduling of a loan facility involves any modification made to the

original repayment terms and conditions of the loan facility following an increase in the

credit risk of obligor/counterparty. 

Irrevocable lending commitments to a credit impaired obligor that have not yet been

drawndown are also included within the Stage 3 credit impairment provision to the extent that

the commitment cannot be withdrawn.

Loss provisions against credit impaired financial assets are determined based on an assessment

of the recoverable cash flows under a range of scenarios, including the realisation of any

collateral held where appropriate. The loss provisions held represent the difference between the

present value of the cash flows expected to be recovered, discounted at the instrument's original

effective interest rate, and the gross carrying value of the instrument prior to any credit

impairment.
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Financial assets that are credit impaired (or in default) represent those that are at least 90 days

past due in respect of principal and/or interest. Financial assets are also considered to be credit

impaired where the obligors are unlikely to pay on the occurrence of one or more observable

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event but instead the combined effect of

several events may cause financial assets to become credit impaired. Evidence that a financial

asset is credit impaired includes observable data about the following events:

The principal or interest or both of the financial instrument is past due for more than 90

days or 3 months. In the case of revolving facilities (e.g. overdraft), the facility shall be

classified as impaired where the outstanding amount has remained in excess of the

approved limit for  a period of more than 90 days or 3 months;

Any financial instrument that exhibits weaknesses in accordance with the Bank's internal

credit risk policy; or
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

vii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-offs of credit impaired instruments & reversal of impairment 

Improvement in credit risk/Curing

To the extent a financial debt instrument is considered irrecoverable, the applicable portion of the

gross carrying value is written off against the related loan provision. Such loans are written off

after all the necessary procedures have been completed, it is decided that there is no realistic

probability of recovery and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in profit

or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the credit impairment loss decreases and the

decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the credit impairment was

recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised credit

impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the provision account. The amount of the reversal is

recognised in profit or loss.

A period may elapse from the point at which instruments enter lifetime ECL (Stage 2 or Stage 3)

and are reclassified back to 12-month ECL (Stage 1).

For financial assets that are credit-impaired (Stage 3), a transfer to Stage 2 or Stage 1 is only

permitted where the instrument is no longer considered to be credit-impaired. 

For financial assets within Stage 2, these can only be transferred to Stage 1 when they are no longer 

considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk.

Where significant increase in credit risk was determined using quantitative measures, the

instruments will automatically transfer back to Stage 1 when there was upgrading of rating notches.

Where instruments were transferred to Stage 2 due to an assessment of qualitative factors, the

issues that led to the reclassification must be cured before the instruments can be reclassified to

Stage 1. This includes instances where management actions led to instruments being classified as

Stage 2, requiring that action to be resolved before loans are reclassified to Stage 1.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Leases - The Bank as lessee

Lease term

ROU assets

ROU assets are initially measured at cost comprising the following:

•

•

•

•

Leases are recognised as right of use ("ROU") assets and a corresponding liability at the day on which

the leased asset is available for use by the Bank (i.e. the commencement date).

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Bank allocates the consideration in

the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

In determining the lease term, the Bank considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic

incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension options

(or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably

certain to be extended (or not to be terminated).

The Bank reassesses the lease term upon the occurrence of a significant event or change in

circumstances that is within the control of the Bank and affects whether the Bank is reasonably certain

to exercise an option not previously included in the determination of lease term, or not to exercise an

option previously included in the determination of lease term. A revision in lease term results in

remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
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any initial direct costs; and

decommissioning or restoration costs.

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;

ROU assets that are not investment properties are subsequently measured at cost, less accumulated

depreciation and impairment loss (if any). The ROU assets are generally depreciated over the shorter

of the assets' useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Bank is reasonably certain to

exercise a purchase option, the ROU asset is depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life. In

addition, the ROU assets are periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for

certain remeasurement of the lease liabilities.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Leases - The Bank as lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

•

•

•

•

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at

that date. The lease payments include the following:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivables;

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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The Bank presents the lease liabilities as a separate line item in the statement of financial position.

Interest expense on the lease liability is included in profit or loss as establishment costs within "other

operating expenses".

amounts expected to be payable by the Bank under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Bank exercising that

option.

The Bank elects to apply MFRS 16 recognition exemption such as short-term leases and leases for

which the underlying asset is of low value. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months

or less with no purchase option. Payment associated with short-term leases and low-value assets are

recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be

readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Bank, the lessee's incremental

borrowing rate is used. This is the rate that the individual lessees would have to pay to borrow the

funds necessary to obtain an asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and

conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit

or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability for each period.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Leases - The Bank as lessor

i) Operating leases 

ii) Finance leases

When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the asset is included in the statement of

financial position based on the nature of the asset. Lease income is recognised over the term of the

lease on a straight-line basis.

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payment is

recognised as a receivable. The receivable is subject to MFRS 9 impairment (refer to accounting

policy Note 3(a)(vii) on impairment of financial assets). The difference between gross receivable

and the present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is

recognised over the term of the lease using the 'net investment' method so as to reflect a constant

periodic rate of return.

As a lessor, the Bank determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an

operating lease. To classify each lease, the Bank makes an overall assessment of whether the lease

transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to

the lessee. As part of this assessment, the Bank considers certain indicators such as whether the lease

is for the major part of economic life of the asset.

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Property and equipment

Office equipment, furniture and fittings 5 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years

Computer hardware 5 years

Computer equipment 3 years
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated

impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the

asset and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to its location and working

condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the assets and restoring the

site on which the assets are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the

related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

Subsequent costs incurred in replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the

asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable

that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item

can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised to profit or loss.

All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in

which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is computed on a straight-line basis over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

Depreciation methods, residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at each reporting date.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes

in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The residual value, useful

life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted prospectively, if

appropriate. An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future

economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal

proceeds, if any, and the net carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Intangible assets 

Computer software 5 years

(f) Other assets

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

An intangible asset is recognised only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that

the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the Bank. Intangible assets

as at the year end include computer software.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial

recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any

accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or infinite. Intangible assets with

finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life. Intangible assets are not amortised until the

assets are ready for their intended use. Intangibles with infinite lives or not yet available for use are

assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The

amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are

reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern

of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the

amortisation period or method, as appropriate and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The

amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the income statement in the

expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset. 

Intangible assets are amortised over their estimated finite useful lives as follows:

Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in income

statement when the assets are derecognised.

Other assets are carried at anticipated realisable values. Bad debts are written off when identified. An

allowance for impairment is based on a review of all outstanding amounts as at the reporting date.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and short-term

funds and deposits and placements with financial institutions with original contractual maturity of

three months or less and subject to insignificant risk of change in value.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Provisions

(i) Employee benefits

(j) Recognition of interest/profit income

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

A provision is recognised when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic

benefits will be required to settle a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. Provisions are determined by discounting the

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value

of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Short term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and

sick leave are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus if the Bank

has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by

the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

The Bank contributes to the Employees Provident Fund ("EPF") for eligible employees on a monthly

basis. Obligations for contributions to EPF are recognised as an expense in the statement of

comprehensive income in the year to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the

Bank has no further payment obligations.

Interest/profit income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest/profit method for

financial assets measured at amortised cost and financial assets at FVOCI. The effective interest/profit

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future receipts through the expected life of the

financial assets. The calculation of the effective interest/profit rate includes all contractual terms of

the financial instrument and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the

instrument and are an integral part of the effective interest/profit rate.

Where an account is classified as impaired, impairment provision is made on principal outstanding

and interest/fee accrued prior to an account being impaired. Upon impairment, subsequent contractual

interest/fee due will not be recognised as income.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k) Recognition of fees and other income from contracts with customers

i) Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time

ii) Fee income from providing transaction services

(l) Tax expense
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its

customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two main categories:

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These

fees include commission income and outsourcing fee on shared-service services to Mizuho Bank,

Ltd., Labuan Branch and other management and advisory fees.

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are

deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective

interest rate on the loan. When it is unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment

fees are recognised over the commitment period on a straight-line basis.

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party,

such as the loan arrangement fees, commissions and placement fees, are recognised as income

when all conditions precedent are fulfilled over the contract period.

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to

the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case it

is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous financial years. Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary

differences arising between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for reporting purposes and

the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to

be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted

or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be

available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at

each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax

benefit will be realised.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Foreign currency transactions and balances

(n) Fair value measurements

Level 1: 

Level 2: 

Level 3: 
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Transaction in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Bank at the exchange

rate at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot rate of

exchange ruling at the reporting date.

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical costs are

translated using the spot exchange rates as at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items

denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rates

at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at

the reporting date are recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is

determined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes

that the transaction to sell the asset of transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or

in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant's ability to

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another

market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank uses observable market data as far as

possible. Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs

used in the valuation technique as follows:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Bank

can assess at the measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event or

change in circumstances that caused the transfers.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Share capital

(p) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Ordinary shares are classified as equity when there is no contracted obligation to transfer cash or other

financial assets. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity shares are taken

for equity as a deduction for the proceeds.

The Bank does not recognise a contingent liability but disclose its existence in the financial

statements. A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence

will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond

the control of the Bank or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an

outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation or the amount cannot be estimated

reliably. Contingent liabilities are disclosed, unless the probability of outflow of economic resources

is remote. However, contingent liabilities do not include financial guarantee contracts.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the

Bank. The Bank does not recognise contingent assets but discloses their existence where inflows of

economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain.
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4. Cash and short-term funds

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

125,169     177,409     

1,805,183  890,760     

1,930,352  1,068,169  

(45)             (99)             

1,930,307  1,068,070  

5. Deposits and placements with financial institutions 

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

1,397,000  -

- 282,343     

1,397,000  282,343     

6. Financial assets at FVOCI

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

At fair value

Malaysian government securities 50,700       -

Malaysian government treasury bills 49,493       -

Government investment issues 701,891     607,183     

Government guaranteed bonds 1,188,267  1,295,859  

1,990,351  1,903,042  

Cash and balances with banks and other financial institutions

Money at call and deposit placements maturing within one month

Deposits and placements maturing more than three months
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses 

Deposits and placements maturing within three months
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7. Loans, advances and financing

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

(a) By type:

At amortised cost:

Term loans 4,044,757    5,225,246    

Revolving credits 1,951,497    1,560,748    

Overdraft 545              -

Bills receivable 9,428           20,310         

6,006,227    6,806,304    

Less: Unearned interest (18)               (36)               

Gross loans, advances and financing at amortised cost 6,006,209         6,806,268 

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (14,034)        (41,551)        

Net loans, advances and financing at amortised cost 5,992,175    6,764,717    

At FVTPL:

Term loans 1,122,213    1,246,694    

Total net loans, advances and financing 7,114,388    8,011,411    

Total gross loans, advances and financing  

- At amortised cost 6,006,209    6,806,268    

- At FVTPL 1,122,213    1,246,694    

7,128,422    8,052,962    

(b) By geographical distribution:

Within Malaysia 5,866,418    6,122,916    

Outside Malaysia 1,262,004    1,930,046    

7,128,422    8,052,962    

(c) By type of customer:

Domestic business enterprises 2,733,901    3,045,504    

Domestic non-bank financial institutions 3,132,517    3,077,412    

Foreign business entities 1,262,004    1,930,046    

7,128,422    8,052,962    
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7. Loans, advances and financing (continued)

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

(d) By interest/profit rate sensitivity:

Fixed rate 1,751,279    1,296,508    

Variable rate 5,377,143    6,756,454    

7,128,422    8,052,962    

(e) By economic purpose:

Purchase of fixed assets other than land and building 546,107       1,313,498    

Purchase of non-residential property 10,792         16,817         

Working capital 6,053,265    6,204,576    

Other purpose 518,258       518,071       

7,128,422    8,052,962    

(f) By economic sector:

Manufacturing 1,404,721    1,693,262    

Electricity, gas and water supply 33,439         37,989         

Construction 573,972       960,680       

Wholesale and retail trade, and restaurants and hotels 177,028       57,897         

Transport, storage and communication 275,101       16,651         

Finance, insurance, real estate and business activities 4,410,413    5,023,599    

Education, health and others 253,748       262,884       

7,128,422    8,052,962    

(g) By maturity structure:

Maturing within one year 4,542,640    4,546,017    

One year to three years 2,113,728    2,389,674    

Three years to five years 472,054       1,098,648    

Over five years - 18,623         

7,128,422    8,052,962    
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7. Loans, advances and financing (continued)

(h)

Credit-

impaired

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 April 2021 6,535,423  270,845     - 6,806,268   

New financial assets originated 3,493,858  58,950       - 3,552,808   

Financial assets derecognised (4,082,022) (270,845)    - (4,352,867) 

At 31 March 2022 5,947,259  58,950       - 6,006,209   

At 1 April 2020 7,543,756  134,728     - 7,678,484   

Changes due to loans, advances and 

  financing recognised as at 1 April 2020:

Transfer to lifetime ECL (Stage 2) (190,213)    190,213     - -

New financial assets originated 3,960,474  91,919       - 4,052,393   

Financial assets derecognised (4,778,594) (146,015)    - (4,924,609) 

At 31 March 2021 6,535,423  270,845     - 6,806,268   

Movements in gross loans, advances and financing carrying amount at amortised cost:
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Not credit-impaired
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7. Loans, advances and financing (continued)

(i)

Credit-

impaired

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 April 2021 34,399       7,152         - 41,551        

New financial assets originated 11,967       616            - 12,583        

Financial assets derecognised (22,015)      (7,152)        - (29,167)      

Net remeasurement during the 

  financial year (10,933)      - - (10,933)      

At 31 March 2022 13,418       616            - 14,034        

At 1 April 2020 19,215       35,393       - 54,608        

New financial assets originated 22,540       5,297         - 27,837        

Financial assets derecognised (17,963)      (35,393)      - (53,356)      

Net remeasurement during the 

  financial year 10,607       1,855         - 12,462        

At 31 March 2021 34,399       7,152         - 41,551        

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

(j) Movements in impairment allowance for loans, advances and financing:

At 1 April 41,551        54,608        

Writeback during the financial year (Note 24) (27,517)       (13,057)      

At 31 March 14,034        41,551        

As percentage of total loans, advances and financing 0.20% 0.52%

Not credit-impaired

The Bank has no impaired loans, advances and financing and no individual impairment allowance

was deemed required as at 31 March 2022.
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Movements in impairment allowances on loans, advances and financing which reflect the ECL model

on impairment are as follows:
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8. Derivative financial instruments 

Notional

amount Assets Liabilities

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

At fair value:

Foreign exchange related contracts 1,109,316    19,470         (11,641)        

Interest rate related contracts 6,383,333    71,930         (59,072)        

Total derivative assets/(liabilities) 7,492,649    91,400         (70,713)        

2021

At fair value:

Foreign exchange related contracts 2,188,348    29,331         (12,294)        

Interest rate related contracts 6,766,001    127,194       (141,287)      

Total derivative assets/(liabilities) 8,954,349    156,525       (153,581)      

9. Other assets 

2022 2021

Note RM'000 RM'000

Accrued interest receivable 24,363         24,123         

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 7,098           77,523         

Amount due from holding company (a) 706              758              

32,167         102,404       

(a) The amount due from holding company is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Derivative financial instruments are financial instruments whose values change in response to changes in

prices or rates of the underlying instruments. These instruments allow the Bank to transfer, modify or

reduce its foreign exchange and interest rate risks via hedge relationships. Most of the Bank's derivative

trading activities relate to deals with customers which the Bank normally enters corresponding positions

with counterparties. The Bank may also take positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable

movements in prices, rates or indices. The table below shows the Bank’s derivative financial instruments

as at the date of statement of financial position. The contractual or underlying principal amounts of these

derivative financial instruments and their corresponding gross positive (derivative financial asset) and

gross negative (derivative financial liability) fair values at the date of statement of financial position are

analysed below.

Fair value
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10. Right of use assets

Buildings Equipments Vehicles Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Cost

At 1 April 2021 14,286         539             3,221           18,046         

Additions 6,080           106             174              6,360           

Derecognition (5,914)         (83)              - (5,997)          

Remeasurements 981 - 167              1,148           

At 31 March 2022 15,433         562             3,562           19,557         

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2021 7,659           176             1,026           8,861           

Depreciation charged 3,980           118             819              4,917           

Derecognition (3,616)         (83)              - (3,699)          

At 31 March 2022 8,023           211             1,845           10,079         

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2022 7,410           351             1,717           9,478           

2021

Cost

At 1 April 2020 13,821         539             2,303           16,663         

Additions 275              - 1,198           1,473           

Derecognition (225)            - (351)             (576)             

Remeasurements 415 - 71                486              

At 31 March 2021 14,286         539             3,221           18,046         

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2020 3,870           46               601              4,517           

Depreciation charged 4,014           130             776              4,920           

Derecognition (225)            - (351)             (576)             

At 31 March 2021 7,659           176             1,026           8,861           

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2021 6,627           363             2,195           9,185           

The Bank leases various offices, apartments, equipment and vehicles. The leases typically run for a period

of 1 to 5 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date.
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10. Right of use assets (continued)

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Cash outflows for leases as a lessee:

Interest on lease liabilities 260              276              

Income from sub-leasing right of use assets presented 

  in 'other operating income' (65)               (64)               

Expenses relating to short-term leases 11                -

Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, 

  excluding short-term leases 35                35                

Payment of lease liabilities 4,922           4,923           

Total cash outflows for leases 5,163           5,170           
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11. Property and equipment

Office

equipment,

furniture and Leasehold Computer Computer 

fittings improvements equipment hardware Total 

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Cost

At 1 April 2021 5,699          11,086         2,316        9,576        28,677      

Additions 4                 - 289           2,243        2,536        

Written off (84)             - (39)            - (123)          

At 31 March 2022 5,619          11,086         2,566        11,819      31,090      

Accumulated 

  depreciation

At 1 April 2021 5,469          8,618           1,763        7,592        23,442      

Depreciation charged 151             730              280           1,452        2,613        

Written off (84)             - (39)            - (123)          

At 31 March 2022 5,536          9,348           2,004        9,044        25,932      

Net book value

At 31 March 2022 83               1,738           562           2,775        5,158        

2021

Cost

At 1 April 2020 5,699          10,999         1,709        9,249        27,656      

Additions - 87                607           327           1,021        

At 31 March 2021 5,699          11,086         2,316        9,576        28,677      

Accumulated 

  depreciation

At 1 April 2020 5,286          7,515           1,583        6,431        20,815      

Depreciation charged 183             1,103           180           1,161        2,627        

At 31 March 2021 5,469          8,618           1,763        7,592        23,442      

Net book value

At 31 March 2021 230             2,468           553           1,984        5,235        
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12. Intangible assets

Software

development

Software in-progress Total 

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Cost

At 1 April 2021 29,560        410             29,970        

Additions 190             1,736          1,926          

Transferred to software 1,744          (1,744)         -

At 31 March 2022 31,494        402             31,896        

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 April 2021 22,811        - 22,811        

Amortisation charged 3,051          - 3,051          

At 31 March 2022 25,862        - 25,862        

Net book value

At 31 March 2022 5,632          402             6,034          

2021

Cost

At 1 April 2020 28,050        651             28,701        

Additions 488             781             1,269          

Transferred to software 1,022          (1,022)         -

At 31 March 2021 29,560        410             29,970        

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 April 2020 18,363        - 18,363        

Amortisation charged 4,448          - 4,448          

At 31 March 2021 22,811        - 22,811        

Net book value

At 31 March 2021 6,749          410             7,159          
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13. Deferred tax assets/(deferred tax liabilities)

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 April 3,104        1,758        

Recognised in profit or loss (6,903)       116           

Recognised in other comprehensive income 1,180        1,230        

At 31 March (2,619)       3,104        

Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:

Deferred tax assets 7,276        11,166      

Deferred tax liabilities (9,895)       (8,062)       

(2,619)       3,104        

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax

assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority. The

following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement of financial

position.

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

84



13. Deferred tax assets/(deferred tax liabilities) (continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the financial year comprise the following:

Unrealised

Allowance Accelerated Financial foreign

for expected capital assets exchange

credit losses allowances at FVOCI gain Others Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 April 2021 9,737            (712)              (321)              (7,029)           1,429            3,104            

Recognised in profit or loss (3,631)           87                 - (2,241)           (1,118)           (6,903)           

Recognised in other comprehensive income - - 1,180            - - 1,180            

At 31 March 2022 6,106            (625)              859               (9,270)           311               (2,619)           

2021

At 1 April 2020 5,426            (819)              (1,551)           (2,104)           806               1,758            

Recognised in profit or loss 4,311            107               - (4,925)           623               116               

Recognised in other comprehensive income - - 1,230            - - 1,230            

At 31 March 2021 9,737            (712)              (321)              (7,029)           1,429            3,104            
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14. Deposits from customers

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

(a) By type of deposits:

Demand deposits 972,770     945,210     

Fixed deposits 1,049,072  964,033     

Short-term deposits 2,002,389  833,297     

4,024,231  2,742,540  

(b) By type of customers:

Domestic non-bank financial institutions 368,319     179,427     

Domestic business enterprises 3,394,697  2,452,077  

Foreign business enterprises 71,780       110,929     

Domestic other enterprises 94              107            

Government and statutory bodies 189,341     -

4,024,231  2,742,540  

(c) Maturity structure:

On demand 972,770     945,210     

Due within six months 2,933,060  1,700,790  

Due over six months to one year 118,401     96,540       

4,024,231  2,742,540  

15. Deposits and placements from financial institutions

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Licensed banks 6,789,195  7,077,317  
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16. Other liabilities

2022 2021

Note RM'000 RM'000

Accrued interest payable 6,148        6,417        

Other accruals 8,147        13,974      

Other payables 68,551      34,563      

Advances from holding company (a) 29             25             

Allowance for ECL on credit commitments and contingencies (b) 22,522      6,663        

105,397    61,642      

(a)

(b)

Credit-

impaired

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 April 2021 4,754        1,909        - 6,663        

Changes due to credit commitments and

  contingencies recognised as at 1 April 2021:

Transfer to lifetime ECL (Stage 2) (327)         327           - -

New financial assets originated 683           5,952        - 6,635        

Financial assets derecognised (1,069)      (1,909)       - (2,978)       

Net remeasurement during the financial year (3,157)      15,359      - 12,202      

At 31 March 2022 884           21,638      - 22,522      

At 1 April 2020 1,540        535           - 2,075        

New financial assets originated 4,187        1,909        - 6,096        

Financial assets derecognised (986)         (535)          - (1,521)       

Net remeasurement during the financial year 13             - - 13             

At 31 March 2021 4,754        1,909        - 6,663        

Not credit-impaired

Movements in impairment allowance on credit commitments and contingencies which reflect ECL

model on impairment are as follows:

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Advances from holding company is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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17. Share capital 

2022 2021 2022 2021

'000 '000 RM'000 RM'000

Issued and fully paid with no par value

  classified as equity instruments:

At 1 April 2021/2020 1,200,000  700,000     1,200,000    700,000       

Issued during the financial year - 500,000     - 500,000       

At 31 March 1,200,000  1,200,000  1,200,000    1,200,000    

18. Reserves

2022 2021

Note RM'000 RM'000

Non-distributable:

Regulatory reserve (a) 30,534         -

FVOCI reserve (b) (2,720)          1,016           

27,814         1,016           

Distributable:

Retained profits (c) 360,537       311,805       

388,351       312,821       

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

The FVOCI reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income.

The retained profits of the Bank as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 represent distributable

profits and may be distributed as dividends under the single-tier system.
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Amountordinary shares

Number of 

Regulatory reserve is maintained in compliance with BNM's Revised Policy Documents on Financial

Reporting, whereby the Bank must maintain, in aggregate, loss allowance for non-credit impaired

exposures and regulatory reserve of no less than 1% of total credit exposures, net of loss allowance

for credit-impaired exposures. 

In the previous financial year, the regulatory reserve held against expected credit losses is reduced to

0% as part of Covid-19 related measures to drawdown prudential buffers as permitted by BNM. 
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19. Interest income 

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Loans, advances and financing 75,989       108,256     

Money at call and deposits and placements with financial institutions 26,007       37,008       

Financial assets at FVOCI 48,435       47,183       

Others 472            1,873         

150,903     194,320     

20. Interest expense

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Deposits and placements from financial institutions 18,549       53,550       

Deposits from customers 38,261       33,952       

Others 392            513            

57,202       88,015       

21. Other operating income

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Fee income 10,150       12,896       

Realised gain in fair value of derivative financial instruments 16,451       16,736       

Unrealised loss in fair value of derivative financial instruments (12,718)      (4,197)        

Realised foreign exchange gain 24,407       19,668       

Unrealised foreign exchange gain 38,627       29,290       

Net unrealised gain on revaluation of financial assets at FVTPL 1,992         1,032         

Others 65              124            

78,974       75,549       

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

89



22. Other operating expenses

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Personnel costs:

Salaries, allowances and bonuses 34,180      31,929      

Contribution to Employees Provident Fund 5,061        4,198        

Other staff related costs 7,128        9,522        

Establishment costs:

Repair and maintenance 5,392        5,897        

Depreciation of right of use assets 4,917        4,920        

Depreciation of property and equipment 2,613        2,627        

Amortisation of intangible assets 3,051        4,448        

Rental of premises 20             20             

Information technology expenses 2,975        5,062        

Others 692           787           

Marketing expenses:

Advertisement and publicity 125           776           

Others 3               557           

Administration and general expenses:

Communication expenses 1,077        1,098        

Legal and professional fees 1,094        803           

Others 10,920      7,187        

79,248      79,831      

The above expenses include the following statutory disclosures:

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Directors' remuneration (Note 23) 1,915        2,223        

Auditors' remuneration:

- Statutory audit 300           300           

- Regulatory-related services - 62             
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23. Directors' remuneration 

The total remuneration (including benefits-in-kind) of the Directors of the Bank are as follows:

Salary

and Other Benefit-

bonus Fee emoluments in-kind Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Executive Director and CEO:

Mr. Katsutoshi Toba 793          - 316          188            1,297         

Non-executive Directors:

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin - 145          55            1                201            

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid - 194          - 1                195            

Mr. Lim Kim Seng - 135          59            1                195            

Dato' Dr. Zaha Rina binti Zahari - 21            6              - 27              

793          495          436          191            1,915         

2021

Executive Director and CEO:

Mr. Shojiro Mizoguchi 672          - 353          150            1,175         

Mr. Katsutoshi Toba 263          - 142          53              458            

Non-executive Directors:

Datuk Ahmad Hizzad bin Baharuddin - 155          56            1                212            

Mr. Abdul Khalil bin Abdul Hamid - 139          53            1                193            

Mr. Lim Kim Seng - 131          53            1                185            

935          425          657          206            2,223         

24. (Writeback)/addition of allowances for ECL

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Deposits and placements with financial institutions (54)             99              

Loans, advances and financing (27,517)      (13,057)      

Credit commitments and contingencies 15,859       4,588         

(11,712)      (8,370)        
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25. Tax expense

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Current tax expense 

Current financial year 19,872       30,868       

Over provision in prior financial years (902)           (125)           

18,970       30,743       

Deferred tax expense

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 7,453         (2)               

Over provision in prior financial years (550)           (114)           

6,903         (116)           

Income tax expense 25,873       30,627       

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Profit before taxation 105,139     110,393     

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24%  (2021: 24%) 25,233       26,494       

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,092         4,372         

Over provision of current tax expense in prior financial years (902)           (125)           

Over provision of deferred tax in prior financial years (550)           (114)           

Tax expense for the financial year 25,873       30,627       

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before taxation at the statutory income tax rate

to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Bank is as follows:

Income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory rate of 24% (2021: 24%) of the estimated chargeable

profit for the financial year. 
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26. Significant related party transactions and balances 

(a)

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Transactions with related parties

Interest income on money at call and deposits and placements 62              38              

Interest expense on deposits and placements (17,411)      (52,125)      

Outsourcing fee income 7,455         8,154         

Other income 208            209            

Other fee and commission expenses (26,917)      (27,534)      

Other expenses (232)           (238)           
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The Bank has related party relationships with its holding companies, related companies/entities of its

holding companies and key management personnel.

Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank, either directly or

indirectly. The key management personnel includes all the Directors and certain members of senior

management of the Bank.

For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Bank if the Bank

has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control the party or exercise significant

influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Bank and

the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be

individuals or other entities.

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Bank had the

following transactions with related parties.

The Directors are of the opinion that the transactions have been entered into in the normal course of

business and have been established on a negotiated basis that are not materially different from those

obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties. 
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26. Significant related party transactions and balances (continued)

(b)

2022 2021

Intercompany charges with related parties RM'000 RM'000

(i) By type of service:

Collateral deposit fees 22,136       25,149       

Interest expense 17,411       52,125       

Personnel costs - 18              

Administration and general expenses 3,695         728            

Establishment costs - outsourcing 1,318         1,877         

44,560       79,897       

(ii) By country:

Malaysia 34,572       66,584       

Singapore 4,975         10,549       

Japan 5,012         2,605         

United Kingdom 1                159            

44,560       79,897       

(c) Related parties balances

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Amount due from/(to) related parties:

- Cash and short-term funds 162,943     121,672     

- Derivative assets 846            21              

- Outsourcing fee 642            717            

- Other assets 64              41              

- Interest receivable on deposits and other receivables 2                -

- Deposits from customers (204)           (163)           

- Deposits and placements from financial institutions (6,741,194) (6,869,109) 

- Interest payable on deposits and other payables (3,426)        (7,715)        

- Derivative liabilities - (851)           

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
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In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Bank had the

following intercompany charges with related parties.

Included in the statement of financial position are the amounts due from/(to) related parties,

represented by the following:
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26. Significant related party transactions and balances (continued)

(d) Key management personnel 

The remuneration of key management personnel included in the profit or loss are as follows: 

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Salary and emoluments 3,782         3,177         

Defined contribution plan 518            451            

Benefits-in-kind 128            92              

4,428         3,720         

(e) Credit transactions and exposures with connected parties 

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Outstanding credit exposures with connected parties 55,652       50,908       

Percentage of outstanding credit exposures to connected parties as 

  proportion of total credit exposures 0.16% 0.12%

Currently, none of the exposures to connected parties are classified as impaired.

27. Earnings per ordinary share - basic

There was no dilutive potential impact on the ordinary shares at the end of the year.

The credit exposures above are derived based on Bank Negara Malaysia's revised Guidelines on

Credit Transactions and Exposures with Connected Parties.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The calculation of the basic earnings per ordinary share at 31 March 2022 was based on the profit

attributable to owner of the Bank of RM79,266,000 (2021: RM79,766,000) and the weighted average

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year of 1,200,000,000 (2021: 1,200,000,000).
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28. Commitments and contingencies

Credit  Risk- 

Principal equivalent weighted

amount amount* amount*

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Direct credit substitutes 107,626       107,626    107,476  

Transaction related contingent items 120,426       60,213      47,430    

Short-term self-liquidating trade related contingencies 2,013           403           403         

Foreign exchange related contracts

- One year or less 976,967       25,897      18,939    

- Over one year to five years 132,349       14,710      9,173      

Interest related contracts

- One year or less 2,224,680    71,590      42,797    

- Over one year to five years 5,262,099    498,949    332,724  

Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and

credit lines, with an original maturity of over one year 4,500           2,250        2,250      

Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and

credit lines, with an original maturity of up to one year 378,387       - -

Any commitments that are unconditionally cancelled at any

time without prior notice 4,677,604    - -

Total 13,886,651  781,638    561,192  

In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain contingent

liabilities with legal recourse to customers. No material losses are anticipated as a result of these

transactions. The risk-weighted exposures of the Bank are as follows: 
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28. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

Credit  Risk- 

Principal equivalent weighted

amount amount* amount*

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2021

Direct credit substitutes 35,117         35,117      34,665    

Transaction related contingent items 105,819       52,910      40,830    

Short-term self-liquidating trade related contingencies 11,543         2,309        2,309      

Foreign exchange related contracts

- One year or less 1,838,982    44,107      24,931    

- Over one year to five years 349,366       27,719      20,481    

Interest related contracts

- One year or less 3,231,541    134,203    90,198    

- Over one year to five years 4,720,190    551,365    389,242  

- Over five years 36,291         6,635        4,873      

Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and

credit lines, with an original maturity of over one year 100,000       50,000      50,000    

Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and

credit lines, with an original maturity of up to one year 1,245,630    58,129      58,129    

Any commitments that are unconditionally cancelled at any

time without prior notice 3,653,398    - -

Total 15,327,877  962,494    715,658  

* The credit equivalent amount and risk-weighted amount are arrived at using the credit conversion

factors and risk-weights respectively as specified by Bank Negara Malaysia for regulatory capital

adequacy purposes.
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In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain contingent

liabilities with legal recourse to customers. No material losses are anticipated as a result of these

transactions. The risk-weighted exposures of the Bank are as follows (continued): 
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The objectives of the Bank's risk management activities are to:

•

•

•
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Risk Management Department ("RMD") is responsible for identifying, monitoring, analysing and

reporting the principal risks to which the Bank is exposed. In facilitating the Bank’s achievement of its

objectives whilst operating in a sound business environment, teams from RMD are engaged from an

early stage in the risk process for independent inputs and risk assessments.

The Bank’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, other

payables and financial guarantee contracts. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance

the Bank’s operations and to provide guarantees to support its operations. The Bank has loan and other

receivables, trade and other receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that arrive directly from its

operations. The Bank also holds financial assets at FVOCI and enters into derivative transactions.

Establishment of the three (3) lines of Defence Concept – risk taking units, risk control units and internal

audit. The risk taking units manage the day-to-day management of risks inherent in their business

activities and ensuring the proper implementation and execution of its policies while the risk control

units are responsible for setting the risk management framework and developing tools and

methodologies for the identification, measurement, monitoring and reporting of risks. Complementing

this is internal audit, which provides independent assurance of the effectiveness of the risk management

approach and provides independent responsibility to ensure adequacy, effectiveness and robustness of

the risk management policies.

Strong risk governance supports Integrated Risk Management ("IRM") approach. The Board of Directors

through the Board Risk Management Committee ("BRMC") is ultimately responsible for the

implementation of IRM. RMD has been principally tasked to assist the various risk committees and

undertakes the performance of the day-to-day risk management functions of the IRM. 

To initiate and execute upon approval, specific strategic decisions in relation to Credit, Market and

Operational, Liquidity, Shariah and Technology Risks.

To conduct independent monitoring to ensure that Risk Taking Departments are in line with

approved policies and limits; and

To develop, maintain and enhance the Bank's risk management framework, quantitative

methodologies and policies for monitoring and managing Credit, Market, Operational, Liquidity,

Shariah and Technology Risks;

The approach adopted by RMD in maintaining effective oversight on day-to-day risk taking activities

while continuously enhancing its infrastructure to provide a more holistic view of its risk exposures and

positions has enabled the Bank to better manage the challenges arising from the uncertainties and market

volatility.
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management 

Major areas of the Bank's risk management are as follows: 
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The credit rating models for corporate customers are designed to assess the credit worthiness in

paying their obligations, derived from risk factors such as financial position, conduct of account and

market conditions. 

The MCC is set up to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the credit oversight. The

Committee ensures the overall loan/financing portfolio meets the guidelines of the regulatory

authorities and adherence to the approved credit policies and procedures.

The CEO, with the Board’s support, has established various management level risk committees to assist

and support the Board Risk Management Committees in the operations of the Bank. The Asset Liability

Management Committee ("ALMC") is chaired by the CEO on a monthly basis and Management Credit

Committee ("MCC") is chaired by the CEO which will be held at least six times per year.

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Credit risk is defined as risk of loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to perform their

contractual obligations in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions. Corporate and

institutional credits are assessed by business units and ratings were assigned based on quantitative

and qualitative factors. These credits are subsequently evaluated and approved by independent

parties. 

Apart from credit risk, credit concentration risks and large exposure risks are managed by setting

limits for single counterparty, connected parties, market sectors, etc. These limits are monitored to

control and prevent excessive concentration of risk exposure. In addition, reviews of the limits are

conducted on a periodic basis. 

The credit approving authority is established and documented in the Bank’s credit risk policy. The

Board of Directors has the approving authority to approve credit facilities above Chief Executive

Officer's ("CEO's") approval limit. Secondly, the Board of Directors also has the veto power. CEO's

approval of credit facilities limit is capped at Single Counterparty Exposure Limit ("SCEL") limit.

There are certain customers and credit facilities will be subjected to Parent Bank consultation first

before obtaining CEO's approval.

Adherence to established credit limits is monitored daily by RMD, which combines all exposures

for each counterparty or group, including off-balance sheet items and potential exposures. Credit

limits are also monitored based on rating classification of the obligor.
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

On-balance sheet exposures:

Cash and short-term funds 1,930,307     1,068,070     

Deposits and placements with financial institutions 1,397,000     282,343        

Loans, advances and financing 7,114,388     8,011,411     

Financial investments at FVOCI 1,990,351     1,903,042     

Other financial assets 29,805          100,170        

Derivative financial assets 91,400          156,525        

12,553,251   11,521,561   

Off-balance sheet exposures:

Commitments and contingencies 13,886,651   15,327,877   

Total maximum credit risk exposure 26,439,902   26,849,438   

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Bank relates to amounts on the statement of financial

position as well as commitments and contingencies, without taking into account of any collateral

held or other credit enhancements. For contingent liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk

is the maximum amount that the Bank would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments

issued are called upon. For credit commitments, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full

amount of the undrawn credit facilities granted to customers. The table below shows the

maximum exposure to credit risk for the Bank:
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These credit rating models are developed and implemented to standardise and enhance the credit

decision-making process for the Mizuho Bank Group’s corporate exposures.

Credit reviews and rating are conducted on the credit exposures on an annual basis and more

frequently when material information on the obligor or other external factors come to light.
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(ii) Credit risk concentration profile

Deposits and

placements Loans,

 Cash and with advances Financial Other Derivative Commitments 

short-term financial and assets financial financial and 

funds institutions financing at FVOCI assets assets Total contingencies

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Mining and Quarrying - - -            - - - -              84,086            

Manufacturing - - 1,404,721 - 35             7,441        1,412,197   2,094,797       

Electricity, gas and water supply - - 33,439      - - - 33,439        32,693            

Construction - - 573,972    - - 180           574,152      940,662          

Wholesale and retail trade, and 

  restaurants and hotels - - 177,028    - 1               275           177,304      683,929          

Transport, storage and 

  communication - - 275,101    - 322           - 275,423      1,274,987       

Finance, insurance, real estate

  and business activities 1,930,352 1,397,000   4,410,413 1,990,351 28,322      83,504      9,839,942   8,745,125       

Education, health and others - - 253,748    - - - 253,748      30,372            

Others - - - - 1,125        - 1,125          -

1,930,352 1,397,000   7,128,422 1,990,351 29,805      91,400      12,567,330 13,886,651     

Less: Allowance for ECL (45)            - (14,034)     - - - (14,079)       -

1,930,307 1,397,000   7,114,388 1,990,351 29,805      91,400      12,553,251 13,886,651     
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(ii) Credit risk concentration profile (continued)

Deposits and

placements Loans,

 Cash and with advances Financial Other Derivative Commitments 

short-term financial and assets financial financial and 

funds institutions financing at FVOCI assets assets Total contingencies

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Mining and Quarrying - - - - - - -              83,042            

Manufacturing - - 1,693,262 - 36             12,462      1,705,760   2,023,322       

Electricity, gas and water supply - - 37,989      - - - 37,989        45,862            

Construction - - 960,680    - - 310           960,990      1,025,088       

Wholesale and retail trade, and 

  restaurants and hotels - - 57,897      - 2               157           58,056        480,352          

Transport, storage and 

  communication - - 16,651      - 476           4               17,131        1,478,855       

Finance, insurance, real estate

  and business activities 1,068,169 282,343      5,023,599 1,903,042 98,550      143,592    8,519,295   10,150,244     

Education, health and others - - 262,884    - - - 262,884      41,112            

Others - - - - 1,106        - 1,106          -

1,068,169 282,343      8,052,962 1,903,042 100,170    156,525    11,563,211 15,327,877     

Less: Allowance for ECL (99)            - (41,551)     - - - (41,650)       -                  

1,068,070 282,343      8,011,411 1,903,042 100,170    156,525    11,521,561 15,327,877     

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(iii) Credit measurement

(1)

(2)

(3)

Probability of Default ("PD")

Loss Given Default ("LGD")

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Stage 1 (Performing): Financial instrument with no significant deterioration in credit quality

and 12-month ECL is recognised.

Stage 2 (Underperforming): Financial instrument with significant increase in credit risk but

no objective evidence of impairment. For these financial instrument, lifetime ECL is

recognised.

Stage 3 (Non-performing): Financial instrument with objective evidence of impairment/

default at the reporting date. For these financial instrument, individual allowance is

recognised.

Following the implementation of MFRS 9, the Bank's assets are classified and measured using a

forward looking model to compute ECL.

Staging approach is applied into ECL computation when assessing significant increases in credit

risk of financial instruments. There are 3 stages:

The three main components to measure ECL are as follows:

The PD of the Bank is derived based on modelling approach of which statistical analysis and

expert judgement was performed to derive the PD estimates given the historical zero-default

observation in the Bank. The model relies on the credit quality in the Bank's asset portfolio to

predict the 12-month PD. The Lifetime PD is developed using the Bank’s year-on-year relative

change approach with the application of forecasted macroeconomic variable ("MEV").

The Bank applies LGD based on rating classification of counterparty, seniority of claim,

availability of collateral and other credit support. With zero defaults to-date, the Bank refers on

the regulatory standards on the assigned LGD for unsecured senior claims and subordinated

claims.

103



29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(iii) Credit measurement (continued)

Exposure at Default ("EAD")

Forecast of key macroeconomic variables

2022

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

5.9% 5.0% 4.8% 4.5% 4.3% 4.1%

2021

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

-6.0% 7.8% 6.0% 5.7% 5.3% 5.0%

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Based on MFRS 9, the Bank shall hold provision against potential future credit risk losses which

depend not only on the present economy but also on the potential changes to the economic

environment in the future.

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which

varies by product type. In the EAD model, the Bank applies the regulator's Credit Conservation

Factor ("CCF") on the on-and off-balance sheet exposures. The CCF ratios varies depending on

the product type. 

The Bank incorporates the forward looking adjustments in the credit risk parameter used in ECL

calculation, where Gross Domestic Product ("GDP") growth is the main economic input used in

the computation of forward looking scalar. The Bank applies three scenarios which include

"Baseline", "Favourable" and "Downturn" scenarios, taking into account the probability weighted

range of possible future outcomes in estimating ECL. 

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

The Bank captures the effect of changes to the economic environment in the future in the

computation of PD. Hence, ECL incorporates forward looking information, assumptions on

economic variables that are likely to have an effect on the repayment capabilities of the Bank's

customers and counterparties.

Year

GDP Growth Forecast

Below table shows the MEV applied for the ECL estimation.

GDP Growth Forecast

Year
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(iv) Credit quality

- Neither past due nor impaired;

- Past due but not impaired; and

- Past due and impaired.

1 AAA

2 AA

3 A

1
BBB+/

BBB

2 BBB-

1

2

3

1

2

3

For the purposes of disclosure in accordance to MFRS 7, all financial assets are categorised into

the following:

Customer categorisation is the categorisation of customers into Insolvent Customers,

Unrecoverable Customers, Customers to be Insolvent, Customers with Special Attention (I or II)

and Ordinary Customers after comprehensively determining the viability of the customer’s

business using the customer’s profit/loss for the period and cash flow, shareholders’ equity in

substance, achievability of business restructuring plans and support from the parent company and

financial institutions, and is carried out before asset classification.
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A

Business 

conditions are 

favorable and 

there are no 

specific problems 

in the customer’s 

financial 

position. 

Very high probability of performance on obligations.

Extremely stable in terms of credit management.
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B

No problem, for the time being, with performance on

obligations. Sufficiently stable in terms of credit

management. (“For the time being” means that if the

business environment should change in the future,

there is a possibility that the change would affect the

customer.)

C

No problem, for the time being, with performance on

obligations and stability in terms of credit

management. (“For the time being” means that if the

business environment should change in the future,

there is a possibility that the change would affect the

customer.)

(BB)

N
o

n
-I

n
v

es
tm

en
t 

g
ra

d
e

D

No problem at present with performance on

obligations but has low resistance to future changes

in the business environment.

(B)
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(iv) Credit quality (continued)
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E

Customers with Special Attention (l):

Customers that require close observation, such as customers whose

business conditions are on a deteriorating trend or have unstable

business performance; customers that have minor problems in their

financial position or have problems in their financial position but

recovery according to plan is anticipated.
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eCustomers with Special Attention (ll):

Customers that require particularly close observation, such as

customers that have problematic lending conditions, e.g. interest

reduced, forgiven, or suspended; customers that have problems with

performance of obligations, e.g. those that are effectively in arrears for

principal and/or interest payments; as well as customers with

deteriorating business conditions, unstable business performance, and

problems in their financial position. 

Customers that are assessed to have Claims under Strict Management as

stipulated in Provision 4 Item 4 of the Law concerning urgent measures

for the reconstruction of the functions of the financial system (1998

Financial Reconstruction Commission Rules and Regulations No.2) in

terms of exposure.
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(iv) Credit quality (continued)
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Customers to be Insolvent:

Customers that are not insolvent, but are having business difficulties

with insufficient progress on their business improvement plans. There is

a high probability that the customer will become insolvent (includes

customers that are under the continuing support of a financial institution

and/or other entities).
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Unrecoverable Customers:

Customers that are not at present legally or formally bankrupt, but are

having serious business difficulties, and it is deemed that there is no

prospect for recovery. The customer is essentially bankrupt.  

Insolvent Customers:

Customers that are legally and formally bankrupt.  
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(v) Credit quality of financial assets - gross loans, advances and financing at amortised cost

Neither 

past 

due nor 

impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000

Term loans 4,044,757   4,044,757   

Revolving credits 1,951,497   1,951,497   

Overdraft 545             545             

Bills receivable 9,410          9,410          

Gross loans, advances and financing at amortised cost 6,006,209   6,006,209   

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (14,034)      (14,034)       

Net loans, advances and financing at amortised cost 5,992,175   5,992,175   

Impairment allowance as a percentage of total loans, 

  advances and financing at amortised cost 0.23% 0.23%

Special

Ordinary attention Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Term loans 4,044,757  - 4,044,757   

Revolving credits 1,932,105  19,392        1,951,497   

Overdraft 545            - 545             

Bills receivable 9,410         - 9,410          

Total - neither past due nor impaired 5,986,817  19,392        6,006,209   

As a percentage of total loans, advances and 

   financing at amortised cost 99.68% 0.32% 100.00%

Note: Ordinary category includes accounts under watch list monitoring. Special attention

category includes special attention (I) and special attention (II).

All gross loans, advances and financing at amortised cost are neither past due nor impaired as of

the reporting date. Summary of risk categories of gross loans, advances and financing at

amortised cost of the Bank are assessed based on credit quality classification as described in Note

29(a)(iv).

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(v) Credit quality of financial assets - gross loans, advances and financing at amortised cost 

(continued)

Neither 

past 

due nor 

impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000

Term loans 5,225,246   5,225,246   

Revolving credits 1,560,748   1,560,748   

Bills receivable 20,274        20,274        

Gross loans, advances and financing at amortised cost 6,806,268   6,806,268   

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (41,551)      (41,551)       

Net loans, advances and financing at amortised cost 6,764,717   6,764,717   

Impairment allowance as a percentage of total loans, 

  advances and financing at amortised cost 0.61% 0.61%

Special

Ordinary attention Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Term loans 5,046,320  178,926      5,225,246   

Revolving credits 1,488,865  71,883        1,560,748   

Bills receivable 20,274       - 20,274        

Total - neither past due nor impaired 6,555,459  250,809      6,806,268   

As a percentage of total loans, advances and 

   financing at amortised cost 96.32% 3.68% 100.00%

Note: Ordinary category includes accounts under watch list monitoring. Special attention

category includes special attention (I) and special attention (II).

All gross loans, advances and financing at amortised cost are neither past due nor impaired as of

the reporting date. Summary of risk categories of gross loans, advances and financing at

amortised cost of the Bank are assessed based on credit quality classification as described in Note

29(a)(iv).
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Credit risk management (continued)

(vi) Credit quality of financial assets - financial investments portfolio and other financial assets

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Cash and short-term funds 1,930,307       1,068,070       

Deposits and placements with financial institutions 1,397,000       282,343          

Financial investments at FVOCI 1,990,351       1,903,042       

Other financial assets 29,805            100,170          

Derivative financial assets 91,400            156,525          

Total - neither past due nor impaired 5,438,863       3,510,150       

(vii) Exposures to Covid-19 impacted sectors

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Wholesale and retail trade, and restaurants and hotels 175,565          56,381            

(viii) Overlays and adjustments for expected credit losses amid Covid-19 environment

All financial investments portfolio and other financial assets are neither past due nor impaired

and categorised as ordinary customers as of reporting date. Summary of risk categories of

financial investments portfolio and other financial assets of the Bank are assessed based on

credit quality classification as described in Note 29(a)(iv).

Loans, advances and financing

On-balance sheet

 (net of impairment)

As the current MFRS 9 model is not expected to generate levels of ECL with sufficient

reliability in view of the unprecedented and on-going Covid-19 pandemic, overlay and post-

model adjustments have been applied to determine a sufficient overall level of ECL for the year

ended and as at 31 March 2022. The overlay and post-model adjustments was introduced in May

2021.

The overlay and post-model adjustments were taken to reflect the latest macroeconomic outlook

not captured in the modelled outcome. As at 31 March 2022, the impact of the overlay and post-

model adjustments outside the MFRS 9 ECL Model applied to loans, advances and financing

and credit commitments and contingencies amounted to RM21,742,000 (2021: nil). 

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management

Interest/Profit rate risk 

The Bank’s market risk and liquidity risk position are discussed and managed at the Asset Liability

Management Committee ("ALMC") on a monthly basis and the Board Risk Management Committee

("BRMC") on a quarterly basis, which is in line with the approved guidelines and policies.

These position limits are monitored on a daily basis and changes in market value of the Bank’s

Treasury portfolio due to interest rate and foreign exchange movements are reported to the CEO.

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Market risk is defined as the risk of potential losses on the values of assets and liabilities held

(including off-balance sheet items) arising from the movements in market variables, such as

interest/profit rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices.

Broadly, the Bank is exposed to two major types of market risk namely interest/profit rate risk and

foreign exchange risk.

The Bank manages those market risks by entering into a back-to-back deal with external

counterparties. This reduces the negative effect or probability of the risk through offsetting positions

of a particular risk.

RMD controls the exposure by setting the limits which is in accordance to Parent Bank. RMD

monitors the exposures through Interest Rate 10 Basis Point Value ("BPV"), Foreign Exchange

Position Limit, Foreign Exchange Positions 1BPV and Loss Cut Limit. 

Interest/Profit rate risk is defined as the exposure of a bank’s financial condition to the adverse

movements in interest/profit rates. Interest/Profit rate risk arises from the mismatch of maturity date

and repricing date of the Bank’s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items, as a result to the

changes in interest/profit rates related to the shift in yield curves and repricing patterns.
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

Foreign exchange risk 

•

•

•

Foreign exchange risk arises as a result of the movements in currencies, which affects the Bank’s

profit and capital from the open position in foreign currencies. Currently the Bank is allowed to take

position in its foreign exchange ("FX") activity. The Bank employs a robust foreign exchange risk

measure as below:

FX BOE: to monitor the open position for each currency and overall position using Bank of

England method.

FX1BPV: to measure the change in present value with a rise of 1 basis point in FX yield. It is

monitored by currency and tenor.

FX MTM P/L (Loss Cut): to calculate MTM profit/loss within a specified period, i.e. daily,

monthly and termly, and confirm not to breach the loss cut limits.
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk/Profit rate risk 

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 Non-Interest Trading

Month Months Months Years Years Sensitive Book Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 1,805,183   - - - - 125,124      - 1,930,307   

Deposits and placements 

  with financial institutions - 1,397,000   - - - - - 1,397,000   

Financial assets at FVOCI 160,096      250,915      445,272      1,134,068   - - - 1,990,351   

Loans, advances and financing 4,301,610   2,794,715   32,097        - - (14,034)      - 7,114,388   

Derivative financial assets - - - - - - 91,400        91,400        

Other non-interest sensitive 

  balances - - - - - 66,624        - 66,624        

Total assets 6,266,889   4,442,630   477,369      1,134,068   - 177,714      91,400        12,590,070 

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The Bank is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position

and cash flow. The following table represents the Bank's assets and liabilities at carrying amount, categorised by the earlier of contractual maturity or

repricing dates as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.

<−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−   Non-trading book  −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−>
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk/Profit rate risk (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 Non-Interest Trading

Month Months Months Years Years Sensitive Book Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 2,335,115   357,032      359,314      - - 972,770      - 4,024,231   

Deposits and placements from

  financial institutions 3,416,739   3,336,786   29,430        - - 6,240          - 6,789,195   

Derivative financial liabilities - - - - - - 70,713        70,713        

Other non-interest sensitive

  balances - - - - - 117,580      - 117,580      

Total liabilities 5,751,854   3,693,818   388,744      - - 1,096,590   70,713        11,001,719 

Shareholder's equity - - - - - 1,588,351   - 1,588,351   

Total liabilities and 

  shareholder's equity 5,751,854   3,693,818   388,744      - - 2,684,941   70,713        12,590,070 

On-balance sheet interest

  sensitivity gap representing total 

  interest sensitivity gap 515,035      748,812      88,625        1,134,068   - (2,507,227) 20,687        -              

<−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−   Non-trading book  −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−>

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk/Profit rate risk (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 Non-Interest Trading

Month Months Months Years Years Sensitive Book Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 890,760      - - - - 177,310      - 1,068,070   

Deposits and placements 

  with financial institutions - - 282,343      - - - - 282,343      

Financial assets at FVOCI 275,425      135,551      238,952      1,253,114   - - - 1,903,042   

Loans, advances and financing 4,096,776   3,838,054   118,132      - - (41,551)      - 8,011,411   

Derivative financial assets - - - - - - 156,525      156,525      

Other non-interest sensitive 

  balances - - - - - 135,786      - 135,786      

Total assets 5,262,961   3,973,605   639,427      1,253,114   - 271,545      156,525      11,557,177 
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<−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−Non-trading book−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−>
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk/Profit rate risk (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 Non-Interest Trading

Month Months Months Years Years Sensitive Book Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 1,303,103   314,944      179,283      - - 945,210      - 2,742,540   

Deposits and placements from

  financial institutions 3,907,862   2,979,625   186,844      - - 2,986          - 7,077,317   

Derivative financial liabilities - - - - - - 153,581      153,581      

Other non-interest sensitive

  balances - - - - - 70,918        - 70,918        

Total liabilities 5,210,965   3,294,569   366,127      - - 1,019,114   153,581      10,044,356 

Shareholder's equity - - - - - 1,512,821   - 1,512,821   

Total liabilities and 

  shareholder's equity 5,210,965   3,294,569   366,127      - - 2,531,935   153,581      11,557,177 

On-balance sheet interest

  sensitivity gap representing total 

  interest sensitivity gap 51,996        679,036      273,300      1,253,114   - (2,260,390) 2,944          -

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

<−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−Non-trading book−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−>
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk/Profit rate risk (continued)

- 100 bps + 100 bps - 100 bps + 100 bps

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Impact on net interest income

Ringgit Malaysia (4,604)       4,604        (5,219)       5,219        

United States Dollar (2,809)       2,809        1,479        (1,479)       

Japanese Yen (194)          194           97             (97)            

Others 47             (47)           53             (53)            

Total (7,560)       7,560        (3,590)       3,590        

Impact on economic value

Ringgit Malaysia (16,025)     16,025      (20,063)     20,063      

United States Dollar 5,247        (5,247)      560           (560)          

Japanese Yen 1,071        (1,071)      1,142        (1,142)       

Others 184           (184)         245           (245)          

Total (9,523)       9,523        (18,116)     18,116      

The table below illustrates the impact under a 100 bps parallel upward and downward interest

rate shock on the Bank's earnings and economic value.

2022 2021
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The projection, by using the repricing gap method, assumes that interest rate moves up and down

parallelly by 100 basis points ("bps") across all maturities for all the interest bearing assets and

liabilities. It is further assumed that all positions are repriced at the mid-point of each time band

and will run to maturity. The repricing profile of any loan that does not have maturity is based on

the earliest possible repricing dates. The impact on earnings and economic value is measured on a

monthly basis. 
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

(ii) Currency risk 

United

Ringgit States Japanese

Malaysia Dollar Yen Others Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 1,060,574 794,912    55,232   19,589   1,930,307    

Deposits and placements

  with financial institutions 480,000    899,720    17,280   - 1,397,000    

Financial assets at FVOCI 1,990,351 1,990,351    

Loans, advances and financing 817,861    6,268,966 27,561   - 7,114,388    

Derivative financial assets 37,545      53,092      340        423        91,400         

Other assets 30,812      1,355        - - 32,167         

Total assets 4,417,143 8,018,045 100,413 20,012   12,555,613  

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 2,837,820 1,052,960 114,863 18,588   4,024,231    

Deposits and placements 

  from financial institutions 3,897        6,785,293 - 5            6,789,195    

Derivative financial liabilities 23,891      36,333      7,451     3,038     70,713         

Other liabilities 100,004    2,882        2,505     6            105,397       

Total liabilities 2,965,612 7,877,468 124,819 21,637   10,989,536  

On-balance sheet open 

  position 1,451,531 140,577    (24,406)  (1,625)    1,566,077    

Less: Derivative assets (37,545)    (53,092)     (340)       (423)       (91,400)       

Add: Derivative liabilities 23,891      36,333      7,451     3,038     70,713         

Net open position 1,437,877 123,818    (17,295)  990        1,545,390    

The table below analyses the net foreign exchange positions of the Bank as at 31 March 2022 and

31 March 2021, by major currencies, which are mainly in Ringgit Malaysia, US Dollar and

Japanese Yen. The "others" foreign exchange risk include mainly exposure to Singapore Dollar,

The Great British Pound, Hong Kong Dollar, Euro, and Thailand Baht. 
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

(ii) Currency risk (continued)

United

Ringgit States Japanese

Malaysia Dollar Yen Others Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 890,061    70,215      84,494   23,300   1,068,070    

Deposits and placements

  with financial institutions - 282,343    - - 282,343       

Financial assets at FVOCI 1,903,042 - - - 1,903,042    

Loans, advances and financing 729,740    7,082,991 198,680 - 8,011,411    

Derivative financial assets 82,605      69,076      4,766     78          156,525       

Other assets 100,806    1,598        - - 102,404       

Total assets 3,706,254 7,506,223 287,940 23,378   11,523,795  

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 2,077,960 531,318    107,933 25,329   2,742,540    

Deposits and placements 

  from financial institutions 2,982        6,895,110 179,221 4            7,077,317    

Derivative financial liabilities 95,229      55,050      1,780     1,522     153,581       

Other liabilities 50,047      7,249        2,428     1,918     61,642         

Total liabilities 2,226,218 7,488,727 291,362 28,773   10,035,080  

On-balance sheet open 

  position 1,480,036 17,496      (3,422)    (5,395)    1,488,715    

Less: Derivative assets (82,605)    (69,076)     (4,766)    (78)         (156,525)     

Add: Derivative liabilities 95,229      55,050      1,780     1,522     153,581       

Net open position 1,492,660 3,470        (6,408)    (3,951)    1,485,771    
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Market risk management (continued)

(ii) Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis - impact on profit/loss before taxation

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

• if USD weakened by 100 basis points (or 1%) (1,238)       (35)            

• if JPY weakened by 100 basis points (or 1%) 173           64             

• if SGD weakened by 100 basis points (or 1%) (4)              23             

• if other currencies weakened by 100 basis points (or 1%) (6)              17             

(1,075)       69             
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its cash flow obligations as they fall due, such as upon the maturity of deposits and loan draw downs.

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 No specific

2022 Month Months Months Years Years maturity Total

Assets RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Cash and short-term funds 1,930,307   - - - - - 1,930,307   

Deposits and placements with financial institutions - 1,397,000   - - - - 1,397,000   

Financial assets at FVOCI 160,096      250,915      445,272      1,134,068   - - 1,990,351   

Loans, advances and financing 2,882,156   518,888      1,128,804   2,584,540   - - 7,114,388   

Derivative financial assets 7,790          5,118          12,758        65,734        - - 91,400        

Other assets 9,802          14,154        1,709          - - 6,502          32,167        

Right of use assets - - - - - 9,478          9,478          

Property and equipment - - - - - 5,158          5,158          

Intangible assets - - - - - 6,034          6,034          

Current tax assets - - - - - 13,787        13,787        

Total assets 4,990,151   2,186,075   1,588,543   3,784,342   - 40,959        12,590,070 

The table below analyses assets and liabilities (inclusive of non-financial instruments) of the Bank in the relevant maturity tenures based on remaining

contractual maturities as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.
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Contractual maturity of total assets and liabilities
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 No specific

Month Months Months Years Years maturity Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 3,307,885   357,032      359,314      - - - 4,024,231   

Deposits and placements from financial institutions 2,371,904   1,570,980   29,430        2,816,881   - - 6,789,195   

Derivative financial liabilities 2,682          4,250          6,164          57,617        - - 70,713        

Lease liabilities 420             837             2,799          4,997          511             - 9,564          

Other liabilities 3,685          6,015          26,524        1,260          - 67,913        105,397      

Deferred tax liabilities - - - - - 2,619          2,619          

Total liabilities 5,686,576   1,939,114   424,231      2,880,755   511             70,532        11,001,719 

Net liquidity gap (696,425)    246,961      1,164,312   903,587      (511)           (29,573)      1,588,351   
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 No specific

Month Months Months Years Years maturity Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 1,068,070   - - - - - 1,068,070   

Deposits and placements with financial institutions - - 282,343      - - - 282,343      

Financial assets at FVOCI 275,425      135,551      238,952      1,253,114   - - 1,903,042   

Loans, advances and financing 2,462,472   1,039,134   1,017,099   3,474,083   18,623        - 8,011,411   

Derivative financial assets 11,476        8,941          40,944        95,164        - - 156,525      

Other assets 14,123        8,341          3,069          - - 76,871        102,404      

Right of use assets - - - - - 9,185          9,185          

Property and equipment - - - - - 5,235          5,235          

Intangible assets - - - - - 7,159          7,159          

Current tax assets - - - - - 8,699          8,699          

Deferred tax assets - - - - - 3,104          3,104          

Total assets 3,831,566   1,191,967   1,582,407   4,822,361   18,623        110,253      11,557,177 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 No specific

Month Months Months Years Years maturity Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 2,248,313   314,944      179,283      - - - 2,742,540   

Deposits and placements from financial institutions 3,910,848   2,974,850   191,619      - - - 7,077,317   

Derivative financial liabilities 19,303        6,688          35,016        91,597        977             - 153,581      

Lease liabilities 410             807             2,992          5,067          - - 9,276          

Other liabilities 4,756          1,700          18,246        3,715          - 33,225        61,642        

Total liabilities 6,183,630   3,298,989   427,156      100,379      977             33,225        10,044,356 

Net liquidity gap (2,352,064) (2,107,022) 1,155,251   4,721,982   17,646        77,028        1,512,821   

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Contractual maturity of total assets and liabilities (continued)
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 No specific

Month Months Months Years Years maturity Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Non-derivative liabilities

Deposits from customers 3,310,726 358,779    363,420    - - - 4,032,925   

Deposits and placements from financial institutions 2,374,059 1,573,848 29,515      2,821,273 - - 6,798,695   

Lease liabilities 435           864           2,889        5,156        515           - 9,859          

Other liabilities 3,685        6,015        26,524      1,260        - 67,913      105,397      

5,688,905 1,939,506 422,348    2,827,689 515           67,913      10,946,876 
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The tables below present the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities as at 31 March

2022 and 31 March 2021. The amounts disclosed in the table will not agree to the carrying amounts reported in the statements of financial position as the

amounts incorporated all contractual cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, relating to both principal and interest/profit analysis. The Bank manages inherent

liquidity risk based on discounted expected cash flows.
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 No specific

Month Months Months Years Years maturity Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Commitment and contingencies

Direct credit substitutes 1,021        15,675      77,321      13,609      - - 107,626      

Transaction related contingencies 1,357        6,283        79,304      33,482      - - 120,426      

Short-term self-liquidating trade related contingencies - 91             1,922        - - - 2,013          

Foreign exchange related contracts 528,141    284,316    164,510    132,349    - - 1,109,316   

Interest/profit related contracts 623,179    7,438        1,594,063 5,262,099 - - 7,486,779   

- - - 4,500        - - 4,500          

- - 378,387    - - - 378,387      

4,677,604 - - - - - 4,677,604   

5,831,302 313,803    2,295,507 5,446,039 - - 13,886,651 

Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and 

  credit lines, with an original maturity over one year

Any commitments that are unconditionally cancelled at

  any time by the bank without prior notice

Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and 

  credit lines, with an original maturity of up to one year
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 No specific

Month Months Months Years Years maturity Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2021

Non-derivative liabilities

Deposits from customers 2,250,129 316,485    182,755    - - - 2,749,369   

Deposits and placements from financial institutions 3,914,128 2,976,994 192,401    - - - 7,083,523   

Lease liabilities 427           840           3,105        5,195        - - 9,567          

Other liabilities 4,756        1,700        18,246      3,715        - 33,225      61,642        

6,169,440 3,296,019 396,507    8,910        - 33,225      9,904,101   

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (continued)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 12 > 1 to 5 Over 5 No specific

Month Months Months Years Years maturity Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2021

Commitment and contingencies

Direct credit substitutes 1,030        881           21,023      12,183      - - 35,117        

Transaction related contingencies 1,115        5,066        76,837      22,801      - - 105,819      

Short-term self-liquidating trade related contingencies - 26             11,517      - - - 11,543        

Foreign exchange related contracts 919,794    568,041    351,147    349,366    - - 2,188,348   

Interest/profit related contracts 612,674    458,762    2,160,105 4,720,190 36,291      - 7,988,022   

- - - 100,000    - - 100,000      

- 1,245,630 - - - - 1,245,630   

3,653,398 - - - - - 3,653,398   

5,188,011 2,278,406 2,620,629 5,204,540 36,291      - 15,327,877 

Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and 

  credit lines, with an original maturity over one year

Any commitments that are unconditionally cancelled at

  any time by the bank without prior notice
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Other commitments, such as formal standby facilities and 

  credit lines, with an original maturity of up to one year
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(d) Operational risk management

(i) Internal Process 

(ii) People 

(iii) Systems 

(iv) External Events

As part of initiatives to improve operational risk management, “Control Self-Assessments” ("CSAs"),

is implemented every six months to all departments to identify inherent risks and control gaps in the

operations within the department. Key Risk Indicator ("KRI") is a statistics or metrics that provides

insight into the Bank’s risk position and reflects the potential sources of Operational Risk from a

forward looking perspective, monitored on a monthly basis.
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risk of events and actions from outside (beyond organisation’s immediate control) which bring

negative impact on the Bank.

which arising from system downtime or delays in available data, inadequate integrity between

old and new software, and incapability of hardware to fulfil business requirements.

resulting from staff defaulting in expected behaviour or the Bank being ineffective/inefficient in

the management of its human capital.

resulting from inadequate/failure of business processes or transactions process flows. Well-

controlled and organised processes are essential.

The Bank defines operational risk as the risk of loss that it may incur resulting from inadequate or

failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external events. 
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30. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements are as follows:

Gross Gross Amounts

amount of amounts presented in

recognised offset in the the

financial statement of statement of Cash collateral

assets/ financial financial Financial received/

liabilities position position instruments pledged Net Amount

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Derivative financial assets 91,400            - 91,400            - (58,192)            33,208            

Derivative financial liabilities 70,713            - 70,713            - (2,980)              67,733            

2021

Derivative financial assets 156,525          - 156,525          - (15,030)            141,495          

Derivative financial liabilities 153,581          - 153,581          - (73,506)            80,075            

statement of financial position

Amount not offset in the
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31. Fair value measurements

(a) Valuation principles;

(b) Valuation techniques;

(c) Fair value measurements and classification within the fair value hierarchy;

(d) Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy;

(e) Movements of Level 3 instruments;

(f) Sensitivity of fair value measurements to changes in unobservable input assumptions; and

(g) Financial instruments not measured at fair value.

(a) Valuation principles

• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Refers to instruments which are regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are

readily and regularly available from an exchange, and those prices which represent actual and

regularly occurring market transactions in an arm’s length basis. Such financial instruments

include actively traded government securities, listed derivatives and cash products traded on

exchange.

The Bank continuously enhances its design, validation methodologies and processes to ensure the

valuations are reflective. The valuation models are validated both internally and externally, with

periodic reviews to ensure the model remains suitable for their intended use. 

Valuation adjustment is also an integral part of the valuation process. Valuation adjustment is to

reflect the uncertainty in valuations generally for products that are less standardised, less frequently

traded and more complex in nature. In making a valuation adjustment, the Bank follows

methodologies that consider factors such as bid-offer spread, unobservable prices/inputs in the

market and uncertainties in the assumptions/parameters.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal or most advantageous

market as of the measurement date. The Bank determines the fair value by reference to quoted prices

in active markets or by using valuation techniques based on observable inputs or unobservable inputs.

Management judgment is exercised in the selection and application of appropriate parameters,

assumptions and modelling techniques where some or all of the parameter inputs are not observable

in deriving fair value. The Bank has also established a framework and policies that provide guidance

concerning the practical considerations, principles and analytical approaches for the establishment of

prudent valuation for financial instruments measured at fair value. 
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This note provides fair value measurement information for both financial instruments and non-financial

assets and liabilities and is structured as follows:
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31. Fair value measurements (continued)

(a) Valuation principles (continued)

•

•

(b) Valuation techniques

Derivatives, loans and financing and financial liabilities
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The fair values of the Bank's derivative instruments, loans and financing and financial liabilities are

derived using discounted cash flows analysis, option pricing and benchmarking models.

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income

The fair values of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets

at fair value through other comprehensive income are determined by reference to process quoted by

independent data providers and independent broker quotations. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are, or are based on, observable

market data

Refers to inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). Examples of Level

2 financial instruments include over-the-counter ("OTC") derivatives, corporate and other

government bonds, illiquid equities and consumer loans and financing with homogeneous or

similar features in the market.

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which significant inputs are not based on observable market

data

Refers to instruments where fair value is measured using significant unobservable market data.

The valuation technique is consistent with the Level 2. The chosen valuation technique

incorporates the Bank’s own assumptions and data. Examples of Level 3 instruments include

corporate bonds in illiquid markets, private equity investments and loans and financing priced

primarily based on internal credit assessment.

The valuation techniques used for both the financial instruments and non-financial assets and

liabilities that are not determined by reference to quoted prices (Level 1) are described below:
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31. Fair value measurements (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements and classification within the fair value hierarchy

Quoted Observable Unobservable

Market Price Inputs Inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Financial assets:

  Financial assets at FVTPL -                  1,122,213      -                   1,122,213    

    Loans, advances and

      financing -                  1,122,213      -                   1,122,213    

  Financial assets at FVOCI -                  1,990,351      -                   1,990,351    

    Money market instruments -                  1,990,351      -                   1,990,351    

  Derivative assets -                  91,400           -                  91,400         

    Foreign exchange related 

      contracts -                  19,470           -                   19,470         

    Interest rate related contracts -                  71,930           -                   71,930         

-                  3,203,964      -                  3,203,964    

Financial liabilities:

  Derivative liabilities -                  70,713           -                  70,713         

    Foreign exchange related 

      contracts -                  11,641           -                   11,641         

    Interest rate related contracts -                  59,072           -                   59,072         

Valuation technique using
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The classification in the fair value hierarchy of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities measured at

fair value is summarised in the table below:
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31. Fair value measurements (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements and classification within the fair value hierarchy (continued)

Quoted Observable Unobservable

Market Price Inputs Inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2021

Financial assets:

  Financial assets at FVTPL -                  1,246,694      -                   1,246,694    

    Loans, advances and

      financing -                  1,246,694      -                   1,246,694    

  Financial assets at FVOCI -                  1,903,042      -                   1,903,042    

    Money market instruments -                  1,903,042      -                   1,903,042    

  Derivative assets -                  156,525         -                  156,525       

    Foreign exchange related 

      contracts -                  29,331           -                   29,331         

    Interest rate related contracts -                  127,194         -                   127,194       

-                  3,306,261      -                  3,306,261    

Financial liabilities:

  Derivative liabilities -                  153,581         -                  153,581       

    Foreign exchange related 

      contracts -                  12,294           -                   12,294         

    Interest rate related contracts -                  141,287         -                   141,287       

The classification in the fair value hierarchy of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities measured at

fair value is summarised in the table below (continued):

Valuation technique using

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

134



31. Fair value measurements (continued)

(d) Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy

(e) Movements of Level 3 instruments

There are no Level 3 instruments as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.

(f) Sensitivity of fair value measurements to changes in unobservable input assumptions

(g) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The estimated fair values of those on-balance sheet financial assets and financial liabilities as at the

reporting date approximate their carrying amounts as shown in the statement of financial position,

except for the financial assets and liabilities as stated below.

For loans and advances to borrowers, where such market prices are not available, various

methodologies have been used to estimate the approximate fair values of such instruments. These

methodologies are significantly affected by the assumptions used and judgments made regarding risk

characteristics of various financial instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows, future

expected loss experience and other factors. Changes in the assumptions could significantly affect

these estimates and the resulting fair value estimates. Therefore, for a significant portion of the

Bank's financial instruments, including loans and advances to borrowers/customers, their respective

fair value estimates do not purport to represent, nor should they be construed to represent, the

amounts that the Bank could realise in a sale transaction at the reporting date. The fair value

information presented herein should also in no way be construed as representative of the underlying

value of the Bank as a going concern. 

The on-balance sheet financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank whose fair values are

required to be disclosed in accordance with MFRS 132 comprise all its assets and liabilities with the

exception of property and equipment, intangible assets, provision for current and deferred taxation.

The accounting policy for determining when transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

occurred is disclosed in Note 3(n). There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 for the Bank

during the financial year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.
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Changing one or more of the inputs to reasonable alternative assumptions would not change the

value significantly for the financial assets and financial liabilities in Level 3 of the fair value

hierarchy.
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31. Fair value measurements (continued)

(g) Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)

Total Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 fair value amount

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Financial assets

Loans, advances

  and financing - 5,987,499    4,756           5,992,255    5,992,175    

2021

Financial assets

Loans, advances

  and financing - 6,758,678    6,306           6,764,984    6,764,717    

32. Capital management 

The Bank is fully funded by its parent bank, Mizuho Bank, Ltd. and currently operates under Mizuho

group's acceptable risk framework to meet its regulatory requirements and market expectations.
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The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value for which fair value is

disclosed, together with their fair values and carrying amount shown in the statement of financial

position:

The fair values of variable rate loans are estimated to approximate their carrying values. For fixed

rate loans and Islamic financing, the fair values are estimated based on expected future cash flows of

contractual instalment payments, discounted at applicable and prevailing rates at the reporting date

offered for similar facilities to new borrowers with similar credit profiles. In respect of impaired

loans, the fair values are deemed to approximate the carrying values which are net of impairment

allowances. 

136



33. Inter-bank offered rates (“IBOR”) reform

Non-derivatives financial Derivatives notional

assets carrying amount amount

RM'000 RM'000

USD  LIBOR 5,535,879     5,722,218     

34. Subsequent events after the financial year

MIZUHO BANK (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

Company No. 201001039768 (923693-H)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

The Bank received a letter from Inland Revenue Board of Malaysia (“IRBM”) on 25 May 2022 informing

that there is an observation on the transfer pricing method pertaining to outsourcing arrangement with a

related party. 

Together with Tax Consultant, the Bank is going to clarify the matter that various transfer pricing

methods have been adopted depending on the situations. 

At this moment, there is no notice of additional assessment from IRBM to the Bank, hence, no provision

has been made in the financial statements as at 31 March 2022. 

IBOR which has been widely used in the global financial markets, has been discontinued end-2021 and

replaced by risk-free rates (“RFRs”) as part of global reform of benchmark interest rate. The transition

from IBOR to RFRs have significant impact on the Bank arising from the legal implications, for existing

derivatives and loan contract referenced to IBOR, adjustment to accounting and valuation approaches, and

system recalibration and reconfiguration. 

The Bank has established a taskforce to oversee the Bank’s IBOR transition plan. This taskforce has put

in place a transition project includes the assessment and actions necessary to accommodate the transition

to RFRs as they apply internal process and systems in pricing, risk management, and valuation models, as

well as managing tax and accounting implications. The Bank is continuing to monitor market

developments in relation to the transition to RFRs from IBOR rates and their impact on the Bank’s

financial assets and liabilities to ensure that there are no unexpected consequences or disruption from the

transition.

The following table is exposure that has yet to transit from IBOR to RFRs as at 31 March 2022:
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35. Capital adequacy

(i) Based on the above, the capital adequacy ratios of the Bank are as follows:

2022 2021

Capital ratios:

CET1 Capital Ratio / Tier 1 Capital Ratio 31.532% 30.176%

Total Capital Ratio 32.677% 31.145%

(ii) The components of CET1 capital, Tier-1 and Tier-2 capital of the Bank are as follows: 

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

CET 1 Capital

Paid-up share capital 1,200,000  1,200,000 

Retained profits 360,537     311,805    

Other reserves (8,692)       (8,645)       

Total Tier 1 Capital 1,551,845  1,503,160 

Tier 2 Capital

General provisions and regulatory reserve 56,344       48,313      

Total Capital 1,608,189  1,551,473 

(iii) The breakdown of risk-weighted assets ("RWA") by each major risk categories are as follows:

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Total RWA for Credit risk 4,507,512  4,323,920 

Total RWA for Market risk 103,189     357,319    

Total RWA for Operational risk 310,805     300,152    

Total RWA 4,921,506  4,981,391 

The capital ratios are computed in accordance with Bank Negara Malaysia's Capital Adequacy

Framework (Capital Components) issued on 9 December 2020 and Capital Adequacy Framework (Basel

II - Risk Weighted Assets) issued on 3 May 2019. The Bank has adopted Standardised Approach for

credit risk and market risk and the Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk. In line with transitional

arrangements under BNM's Capital Adequacy Framework (Capital Components), the minimum regulatory

capital adequacy requirement for common equity Tier 1 ("CET1") capital ratio, Tier 1 capital ratio and

total capital ratio including the capital conservation buffer are 7.0%, 8.5% and 10.5% on the risk-

weighted assets ("RWA") respectively. The minimum regulatory capital adequacy requirement remains at

8% for total capital ratio.
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35. Capital adequacy (continued)

(iv)

Risk-

Weighted

Principal Assets

RM'000 RM'000

2022

0% 3,981,132      -

20% 1,465,389      293,078         

50% 462,178         231,089         

100% 3,983,345      3,983,345      

Total RWA for Credit risk 9,892,044      4,507,512      

Total RWA for Market risk - 103,189         

Total RWA for Operational risk - 310,805         

Total RWA 9,892,044      4,921,506      

2021

0% 2,942,178      -

20% 616,834         123,366         

50% 497,907         248,954         

100% 3,951,600      3,951,600      

Total RWA for Credit risk 8,008,519      4,323,920      

Total RWA for Market risk - 357,319         

Total RWA for Operational risk - 300,152         

Total RWA 8,008,519      4,981,391      

The breakdown of risk-weighted assets (excluding deferred tax assets) of the Bank in the various

categories of risk-weights are as follows:
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35. Capital adequacy (continued)

(v) Disclosures relating to credit risk and market risk are as below: 

Minimum

Risk- Capital

Gross Net Weighted Requirements

Exposures Exposures Assets at 8%

Exposure Class RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Credit Risk

On-balance sheet exposures:

Sovereigns/central banks 2,508,011    2,508,011    - -

Banks, development financial 

Institutions and Multilateral

Development Banks ("MDBs") 2,899,912    1,853,709    396,762       31,741          

Corporates 7,060,756    4,715,439    3,516,311    281,305        

Other assets 33,247         33,247         33,247         2,660            

Total on-balance sheet exposures 12,501,926  9,110,406    3,946,320    315,706        

Off-balance sheet exposures:

Over-the-counter ("OTC") derivatives 611,146       611,146       403,633       32,291          

Off-balance sheet exposures other 

than OTC derivatives or credit

derivatives 170,492       170,492       157,559       12,605          

Total off-balance sheet exposures 781,638       781,638       561,192       44,896          

Total on and off-balance sheet

exposures 13,283,564  9,892,044    4,507,512    360,602        

Minimum

Risk- Capital

Long Short Weighted Requirements

Position Position Assets at 8%

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Market risk

Interest rate risk 7,615,123    7,597,472    77,681         6,214            

Foreign currency risk 2,041           - 25,508         2,041            

Operational risk 310,805       24,864          

Total RWA and capital requirements 4,921,506    393,721        
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35. Capital adequacy (continued)

(v) Disclosures relating to credit risk and market risk are as below (continued):

Minimum

Risk- Capital

Gross Net Weighted Requirements

Exposures Exposures Assets at 8%

Exposure Class RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2021

Credit Risk

On-balance sheet exposures:

Sovereigns/central banks 1,298,696    1,298,696    - -

Banks, development financial 

Institutions and Multilateral

Development Banks ("MDBs") 2,670,849    1,057,571    230,187       18,415          

Corporates 7,399,258    4,661,823    3,350,181    268,014        

Other assets 27,935         27,935         27,894         2,232            

Total on-balance sheet exposures 11,396,738  7,046,025    3,608,262    288,661        

Off-balance sheet exposures:

Over-the-counter ("OTC") derivatives 764,029       764,029       529,725       42,378          

Off-balance sheet exposures other 

than OTC derivatives or credit

derivatives 198,465       198,465       185,933       14,875          

Total off-balance sheet exposures 962,494       962,494       715,658       57,253          

Total on and off-balance sheet

exposures 12,359,232  8,008,519    4,323,920    345,914        

Minimum

Risk- Capital

Long Short Weighted Requirements

Position Position Assets at 8%

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Market risk

Interest rate risk 7,871,687    7,849,570    89,956         7,196            

Foreign currency risk 21,389         - 267,363       21,389          

Operational risk 300,152       24,012          

Total RWA and capital requirements 4,981,391    398,511        
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